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MISSION
To have a proactive, dynamic and sustainable BC Chicken 
Industry operating with the Canadian Supply Management 
System, which has the following characteristics:

•  Robust
•  Profitable
•  Accountable
•  Responsible
•  Transparent

VALUES
To ensure that the BCCMB achieves its mandate in a way 
that maintains their social licence to operate by providing 
leadership for a sustainable and dynamic chicken industry.  
The BCCMB has the goal of supplying the best quality chicken 
in response to market and consumer needs by focussing on 
three component areas:

•  Performance and Management
•  Risk Management
•  Accountability and Governance
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REPORT FROM THE BCCMB
During the calendar year 2011, British Columbia’s 333 chicken growers produced 209.1 million kilograms 
(live weight) of chicken (a increase of 0.74% from last year).  For the year 2011, BC produced 100.5% of its 
periodic allocation.  

The year 2011 was the 50th anniversary of the BC Chicken Marketing Board.  Historical records show that 
the BC Broiler Marketing Board came into existence December 12, 1961, but the office and staff did not start 
up until January 1, 1962 according to the report of the Interim Chair at the time, Mr. R. A.  Blair.  The Interim 
Board also consisted of Mr. Willem Vandenborn and Mr. K.J. Nelson, with Mr. Campbell Hackney as Secretary.  
Mrs Joan Jolliffe acted as recording secretary to the Board.  On December 28, 1961 the Board issued Interim 
Orders #1 and #2.  Interim Order #1 set the live price for broiler chicken at 18 ½ cents a pound live weight.  
Interim Order #2 required Processors to make a deduction from the levy in the amount of ½ cent for “each and 
every bird” shipped to the processor.  

An excerpt of the first report from the Chair to the BC growers at the first annual meeting in May 1962 states:

“The Marketing Board which went into operation on the 1st of January, 1962, and has now 
completed its first year of operation and has proven what can be accomplished by primary 
producers who are united in an effort to improve their own business and bring stability to all 
growers in the province, it has been instrumental in protecting the small family farm that in 
1961 was in danger of disappearing from the scene.  Today the small family farm is getting 
a fair return for his labours and with the policy of the marketing board a policy which was 
formulated by this association and which the Board was very happy to carry through will be 
able to bring his operation up to an efficient level and assure a fair return to all growers for 
their labours.”  
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During 2011 there were no changes to the makeup of the Board.  Mr. John McComish’s appointment was 
completed January 31, 2012. The appointments of the Chair, Ms. Daphne Stancil and Board Member Mr. Greg 
Gauthier continue until June 30, 2012.  Elected Board member, Mr. Rick Thiessen’s term continues until March 
2013, while Mr. Dave Janzen’s term is up March 2012.  

From left to right: John McComish, Greg Gauthier, Daphne Stancil, Dave Janzen, Rick Thiessen

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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The Board allows for meaningful opportunities for input and feedback through:  

•	 Monthly regional meetings with stakeholders (growers, hatchery representatives, processor 
representatives, feed companies) through the auspices of the BC Chicken Growers Association.  The 
Board attends and provides a Board report then fields questions from stakeholders.  These meetings 
cover the Lower Mainland (every 2nd month); Interior (every 2nd month) and Vancouver Island (every 
2nd month).  

•	 The Board meets with the Directors of the BCCGA every month and provides a written report and 
answers questions.  

•	 Bi-monthly Board Meetings in Abbotsford allow for all stakeholders to make personal representation to 
the Board.  

•	 At a minimum of once a year the Board travels to outlying regions of the province and as well as attending 
their regional meeting at night, holds a Board meeting during the day to allow individuals to bring concerns 
directly to the Board.  

•	 The Pricing and Production Advisory Committee meet periodically to discuss price and production volumes 
and matters of interest for mainstream chicken.  

•	 The Specialty Marketing Advisory Committee meet periodically to discuss price and production volumes 
and matters pertaining to specialty chicken.  

•	 The staff, SMAC and SMAC Board member observers meet once a year during an evening with all the 
Specialty growers to discuss issues of interest to the Specialty Market.  

•	 Manning the Educational Trailer at the Pacific National Exhibition during the last 2 weeks of August until 
Labour Day.  Staff and the Board participate to interact with consumers to respond to their questions and 
concerns and to educate them on the life cycle of a chicken.  

•	 In the area of Strategic Planning the Board will be including stakeholders (growers, processors, BCBHEC) 
in the next round of the strategic planning process which commences May 2012.  

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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General Orders

A complete administrative update of the General Orders 
was completed on August 26, 2011.  The new set of General 
Orders  replaces the January 26 2006 version and all of its 
amendments.  Several new initiatives contained within the 
updated General Orders are:

Maximum Farm Size:  The maximum farm size had 
remained the same for a number of years.  Effective with 
the new General Orders, the maximum farm size has been 
increased from 250,000 of 1.929 kilogram live weight units 
(482,250 kg live weight) to simply 750,000 kilograms live 
weight based on the standard 56 day (8 week) cycle.  The 
change can be found in Part 34 Quota Limits and Quota 
Transactions.  

Permits:  The Board had been in discussion with small 
lot permit holders to review the permit program.  Prior to 
updating the General Orders (March 16, 2011), the Board 
changed the permit number allowed under the program from 3000 kg per year to 2000 chickens per year, thus 
removing the size requirement.  The change can be found at Part 50 Permits.  

Board Member Code of Practice:  This Schedule has been removed from the General Orders.  It now appears in 
the BCCMB Policy Manual.  

New Entrant Grower Program:  After review of the program, several changes have been made.  All NEG quotas 
will be restricted to the region in which they are issued as long as there is an active processing plant in the 
region.  These quotas are not transferable to another region of the province. The lottery process has been 
streamlined, there will now be only one list in each region (the applicants will be offered, in order, either the 
opportunity for mainstream or specialty as the need arises as determined by the Board.  The application fee of 
$100 will no longer be refundable.  The lists will hold no more than 15 names.  Any names currently on lists will 
be honoured prior to any new successful applicants proceeding.  

Undermarketings:  The Board has amended the current practice to carry forward under marketings 6 cycles into 
the future.  It will now be carried forward 4 cycles into the future.  Further, if the grower is short of space it can 
be carried to the fourth, fifth and sixth periods following that in which the undermarketing occurred.  The current 
6% tolerance remains in place.  The change can be found at Part 26 Undermarketing.  

Over Marketings:  The Board has amended the current practice to carry forward over marketings 6 cycles into 
the future.  It will now be carried forward 4 cycles into the future.  The current tolerance remains in place.  The 
change can be found at Part 27 Overmarketing and Overplacement.  

Weigh-in Times:  The Board after consultation with the Specialty Markets Advisory Committee (SMAC) has 
changed the weigh-in times for Specialty Chicken.  Currently the weigh-in time was the same as for mainstream 
chicken 6 hours.  Effective with the new General Orders the time has been lengthened to 12 hours of the time 
the vehicle is fully loaded.  The changes can be found at Schedule 1 Weighing of Chicken.  

Bio-Security:  There has been an amendment to the Mandatory Bio-Security Program Standards.  No unlicensed 
avian or porcine species may be kept within a controlled access or restricted access zone where licensed 
production is occurring.  This amendment can be found at Schedule 17(4)(h).  

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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Pricing Model 

As per the BCFIRB Supervisory Decision of June 9, 2010, the Board commenced using the BCFIRB ordered 
pricing formula which can be found at Schedule 19 of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.  The formula was 
first used in quota period A-101 (commencing shipments November 7, 2010).  

In quota period A-106 (shipments August 14, 2011) the Board exercised its discretion to vary the price under 
the Exceptional Circumstances clause in Schedule 3 (now Schedule 2 of the updated General Orders) to depart 
from the BC pricing formula.  The Ontario posted live price for quota period A-106 included a special service 
charge of $0.001 per kilogram live weight.  

The special service charge is in effect in Ontario from A-106 to A-117 inclusive and is payable by Ontario 
processors as their contribution to the cost of the Ontario Industry Strategic Plan for 2013.  The Board excluded 
the Ontario service fee from the Ontario posted live price for the purposes of the calculations contained in the 
BC pricing formula.  

It should be noted that none of the Prairie Provinces included the Ontario service fee when setting their 
respective provincial live prices for quota period A-106.  Further, it should be noted that in quota periods 
A-88 to A-92 a similar exclusion was made when BC set the live price to take into account another special 
service fee which was described as a temporary mechanism to recover the expenses incurred from the Ontario 
Producer Cost Survey.  In those periods as in A-106, the BCCMB excluded the special Ontario service fee when 
setting the BC live price.  

The Board continued to exercise its discretion for the remainder of 2011 (quota periods A-107 and A-108) to 
not include the special service charge of $0.001 per kilogram that is in effect by Ontario from A-106 to A-117 
inclusive. 

Specialty Pricing

During 2011,Specialty live prices continued to be successfully negotiated by the Specialty Markets Advisory 
Committee (SMAC).  The basis for the negotiations continues to be the cost of production information which 
is updated for TC chicken every 16 weeks (on the even period number) by Serecon Consulting, for feed and 
chick price increases.  

The SMAC advised the Board that no update to the organic COP had been conducted since 2008, thus did not 
recommend using the base price established in 2008 to update the organic price with the addition of current 
feed and chick prices.  The SMAC and the organic growers agreed to leave the organic price static until there 
was a need to conduct a full review of the organic COP.  For the year 2011 no such update has been required.  

Market Development Lease Price 

As per the BCFIRB June 2010 Supervisory Decision the Market Development program was returned to 
processor control effective quota period A-103 (shipments February 27, 2011).  The program is now processor 
specific, and not shared equally amongst all BC growers.  To be eligible for MD production, a grower must ship 
to a processor who has received an MD allocation from CFC.  MD continues to be allotted to eligible growers 
on a pro-rata basis within the processing group.  Processors determine and administer the MD lease price.  

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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Open Sign up and non-value based premiums

Following a discussion with the processor group who requested regulatory protection against demands for 
and payment of non-value based premiums, the BCCMB wrote the BCCGA directors and the processor group 
in December, 2010.  The letter advised that the BCCMB would not be implementing regulation at this time, 
but cautioned against demands or offerings for non-value premiums, citing remarks from BCFIRB that these 
premiums are inconsistent with the rationale for supply management.

The BCCMB expects that the current environment of cooperation that exists between producers and processors 
will prevail and strengthen, and regulation will not be required.  

Board staff will be providing to the Board increased oversight of change of processor requests by growers.  
Growers may be contacted directly to determine the reasons for the requested changes.

Premiums above the posted minimum live prices.

The BCCMB became aware of an agreement made between the processor members of the PPPABC no longer 
covered by Assurance of Supply and the BCCGA.  Through this agreement processors offered monetary 
incentives to growers that committed to two-year contracts.  

The Board recognized that many growers would be satisfied with the agreement between the BCCGA and 
the PPPABC. The Board is also acutely aware of the implications of the agreement to the growers who supply 
processors processing below 2% of market share covered by Part 7 of the General Orders (Assurance of Supply), 
who were not party to the agreement.  The BCCMB is obligated under Part 7 Assurance of Supply to Processors 
of the January 23, 2006 General Orders, to ensure that any processor below 2% of the domestic allocation 
receives its traditional market share of the domestic allocation.  The Board must replace any allocation lost to 
that processor as a result of grower movement.

The Board is also concerned that the BCCGA has endorsed a program that benefits a certain group of BC 
chicken growers and excludes others and has encouraged both the PPPABC and the BCCGA to negotiate price 
in the future though the legislatively established system.   

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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Assurance of Supply to processors below 2% of the domestic allocation

As required by FIRB in the 2010 supervisory decision the Board has taken a number of steps to provide 
assurance of supply to processors below 2% of the domestic allocation.  

The Assurance of Supply program commenced in quota period A-104 and has been tracked by the Board. It has 
undergone constant evaluations as to its effectiveness in achieving the goal of supplying regional processors 
while maintaining a balance between grower and processor interests and adjustments have been made.  

The difference in the level of assurance of supply to the regional processor to the amount of grower allocation 
that was assigned to them is calculated.  The shortfall is then “carved out” of the total allocation prior to 
allotments being given to all growers for the period.  The balance of the allocation is then allotted to all BC 
growers pro-rata to their quota holdings.  

The carved out portion of the allocation is offered to growers in the form of domestic lease in the regions 
where it is required by the processor.  First priority is to growers contracted to the regional processor, then 
the balance is offered to the rest of the growers in the region.  A lease fee is payable to the Board for every 
kilogram of Assurance of Supply lease offered to growers.  Fees generated through the lease payable to the 
Board are placed into the Board’s general revenue account.  Should the Board declare a surplus at the end of 
the fiscal year, it will be returned to all growers in good standing with the Board as per Part 15 Distribution of 
Board Operating Surplus of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.  

It is the expectation of the Board that the shortfall to small and regional processors will diminish over time and 
be addressed at least in part by the BCCMB new entrant program for growers.  

To this end the Board has implemented a plan to resolve the issue of supply to Vancouver Island.  An additional 
119,088 kilograms of new incentive quota to Vancouver Island was created for distribution to existing Vancouver 
Island growers.  This will ensure that the VI regional processors needs are met every period and eliminate the 
need for the assurance of supply lease program for the Vancouver Island region.  

Appeals

A new entrant grower located in the Vancouver Island region, appealed a June 16, 2010 decision by the Board 
to deny the grower’s request to remove the transfer restrictions on the incentive quota offered to him as a new 
entrant grower on Vancouver Island.  In its decision issued on December 24, 2010 the BCFIRB panel upheld the 
decision of the BCCMB in this matter and the appeal was dismissed.  As per the General Orders all further NEG 
quotas issued will be restricted to the region in which it was issued as long as there is an active processing 
plant in the region.  The quotas are not transferable to another region of the province.  

An individual appealed a decision of the Board to refuse to issue a 2,000 bird/annum permit under part 50 
Permits of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.  The issue involved a request for a permit that would be grown 
on a registered premise currently housing quota owned by another person (a registered quota holder).  The 
Boards position is that multiple licences on a single property is contrary to the existing General Orders, and 
that allowing this has the potential to disrupt orderly marketing and is not sound marketing policy.  BCFIRB by 
way of a decision dated March 27, 2012 upheld the decision of the BCCMB.  

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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Animal Care Program

The Animal Care Program was developed by Chicken Farmers of Canada to complement the Safe, Safer, Safest 
program (OFFSAP) and to demonstrate the high level of care given to Canadian chickens by Canadian Chicken 
Farmers.  Although the program is not mandatory in 2011, many BC chicken farmers have taken the initiative to 
become certified under the program during their annual 2011 audit.  As of December 31, 2011 there are 332 of 
356 farms (97%) fully certified under the Animal Care Program.  

The regional breakdown is as follows:

Interior Region   37 out of 43 farms (93%) certified.  
Vancouver Island  Region  15 out of 15 farms (100%) certified.   
Lower Mainland Region  289 out of 280 farms (97%) certified.  

Registered Barn Space

In 2011 the BCCMB Inspection/Audit staff commenced a project to re-measure all registered premises (barns).  
Current records indicated that much of the registered space data was collected in the 1990’s and was in 
need of updating to ensure that the Board’s records were accurate and complete.  Both inside and outside 
measurements were to be recorded.  Inside measurements are part of the requirements under the new CFC 
Animal Care Program.  

Promotion

The Chicken Board sponsorship to Agriculture in the Classroom’s “Take a Bite of BC” was expanded in 2011 
with the BC Culinary Arts Specialists to feature BC products in 36 secondary school teaching kitchens in the 
Lower Mainland and the Fraser Valley.  The Chicken Board offered product and a Fact Booklet on how chickens 
are raised as part of a local initiative to encourage students to use local chicken as part of a nutritious meal.

The Chicken Board partnered with Fraser Health & Vancouver Coastal Health to improve food safety practises in 
private homes.  This initiative was to target consumers to buy and use fridge & meat thermometers.

The Chicken Board advertised in the Vancouver Sun & Province newspapers with banners “Choose BC Chicken 
for your family” dispelling the myths of chicken production and featured Chicken Farmers of Canada recipes.

2010 Operating Surplus

At its Annual General Meeting held on April 5, 2011 the BCCMB adopted its 2010 financial statements and 
declared an operating surplus in the amount of $500,892.00. These funds were distributed to growers pro-rata 
to their shipments during the period of January 1 to December 31, 2010.  In order to qualify for a portion of the 
surplus distribution, a grower was required to be in good standing with the Board as of May 15, 2011.  

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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Closing

On April 18, 2011 the BCCMB staff welcomed Arlene Oslie as Administrative Assistant effective July 2011.

Many thanks to Christine Rickson, Carol Blatz, Brian Hoven, Kathy Erickson, Katie Lowe, Yvonne Wallace, Mona 
Gransfors, and Arlene Oslie for their continued hard work and dedication.  

We welcome the advice and support of the entire industry as we go forward.  We end this 50th anniversary 
report with a quote from BCCMB Chair Bob Blair’s speech given to growers at the Annual meeting in May 1963 
which still resonates today:  

“The ambitions of great men, the suspicions of little men, the constant misunderstanding of 
all men, may undermine any structure that this generation builds.  If, however, we build with 
wisdom and with courage, and with patience, those who come after us will be helped by our 
work.  Our buildings may fall but if we have built right, some of the foundation stones will 
remain and become part of the structure that will ultimately abide.”  

Dwight Morrow (American diplomat).  

Happy 50th Anniversary!

Back Row: Carol Blatz, Bill Vanderspek, Kathy Erickson, Brian Hoven, Christine Rickson 
Front Row: Yvonne Wallace, Arlene Oslie, Mona Granfors, Katie Lowe

BCCMB  REPORT continued
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REPORT FROM THE PPAC
PPAC in 2011 was not a particularly busy year but productive none the less. With pricing essentially taken 
care of through Period A-119, PPAC was able to focus on other issues. Discussions on Assurance of Supply for 
Vancouver Island were concluded and amendments to the Pricing Grid and most recently Density are progressing 
well. We hope to conclude in early 2012 and stabilize yet another component under the umbrella of PPAC.

Stuart Wilson, Chair, BC-PPAC
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REPORT FROM THE SMAC
I am happy to report that sales of Specialty Chicken for 2011 have been excellent.  Processors reported having 
minimal inventories of product on hand.

We have had several meetings in 2011 most of which have dealt with adjusting Specialty COP to keep abreast 
of increasing feed prices. Chick prices have remained stable for the year.

Pricing Categories
The three pricing categories for Specialty Chicken implemented in 2010 have been very successful.

TC COP
SMAC recommended to the BCCMB that the current Serecon COP for Specialty
Chicken be updated for feed and chick on a 16 week basis. This was agreed by the Board.

Organic COP
SMAC recommended that Serecon be asked to update the Organic Chicken COP for feed and chick for 2012.  
Serecon is now preparing an updated COP.

My thanks to the BCCMB for their support and acceptance of our recommendations and to the members of 
SMAC for their continued dedication and hard work over the past year.

Armour Green
SMAC Chair
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Consumer Outreach

Since introducing the newly-revamped chicken.ca website in late 2010, there has been a measurable growth 
in CFC’s online relationships with consumers. The growth, and indeed the quality, of our relationship with 
consumers demonstrates that our current course is sound, and that our goals are realistic. Our engagement 
with visitors continues to improve, as evidenced by time spent on our site and by pages viewed per visit. Traffic 
to the sites is still growing as well, due mainly to the effect of the search engine optimization work that started 
in early 2011. 

Farmers & Industry Web Portal
Following the revamp of the chicken.ca website, which effectively consolidated a great deal of non-consumer 
content to one area, CFC needed to further expand its membership and industry communications efforts online 
in a way that does not take away from the consumer focus of chicken.ca. CFC thus improved the usability of the 
existing Farmers & Industry section by expanding the content available there, while making this section its own, 
independent site, that is still editable through the existing back-end interface. This was launched in September.

CFC REPORT continued
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Social Media
Facebook
The CFC page facebook.com/chickenfarmers now has almost 2,800 ‘likes’ and the fan-base is still growing. 
The engagement on Facebook has proven to have a greater reach than we’d hoped for – with our posts being 
‘talked about’ and passed along via shares from Facebook followers, and crossing back into other social media 
platforms, making the reach much larger than we’d anticipated. This is also a venue for regular contests and 
promotions to keep fans engaged.

Twitter – Tweeps or Twerps?
Our Twitter following surpassed the 1,100 mark in the fall, a large increase over the year. This is largely due to 
our participation within the various initiatives we have begun in an effort to connect to ‘digital women’. 

What Consumers Talk to Us About
Animal Care
This is probably one of our most consistent issues. People hear and read misinformation and either write us 
in an accusatory tone, or simply ask questions. Either way, we do our utmost to ensure that they have the 
right information. There are specific concerns around cages, beak trimming, living conditions, inspections and 
processing. 

Antibiotic Use
Questions regarding antibiotic use have abated significantly recently, no longer making up the majority of our 
consumer questions. 

Canadian chicken
There are a growing number of emails and calls on this issue. Consumers want to know how they can be 
assured that the fresh and frozen products they are buying are Canadian chicken.

Hormones
People are constantly writing to us, asking where they can get “hormone-free” chicken. The vast majority are 
pleased to hear that all chicken is hormone-free.

Organic, Free-range, Vegetable-grain fed, etc.
Consumers are confused about the standards. We attempt to clarify this for them.

CFC  REPORT continued
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Animal Care

Animal care continues to be an expectation of Canadian consumers. Over the years, CFC has been proactive 
in order to answer these consumer questions and to demonstrate the high level of care on Canadian chicken 
farms.

To date, over 65% have received full audits and over 50% of farmers are certified on the 
program – this number has doubled in the last year which demonstrates Canadian 
chicken farmers’ commitment to the program.

As with the On-Farm Food Safety Assurance Program (OFFSAP), the Animal Care 
Program is developed and maintained by CFC, while the delivery, certification and 
enforcement is performed by the 10 provincial boards. The same level of internal 
audits and witness audits occurs with the ACP to ensure consistency of implementation. 
In addition, the ACP on-farm audits have been combined with the OFFSAP audits.

When the ACP was approved, CFC Directors requested that a review of the density requirements be performed 
one year after implementation to assess the new requirements, evaluate any new science and consider 
international developments. This review was performed in 2011 and resulted in no changes to the stocking 
density requirements of the ACP. CFC Directors agreed that any future changes should wait until the final paper 
from the research scientists committee of the Code of Practice can be reviewed. A full review of the ACP is 
scheduled to occur in 2013.

The Recommended Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Chickens, Turkeys and Breeders 
from Hatchery to Processing Plant review is underway and will be completed by early 2014. CFC is actively 
involved in this process and sits as a member on the scientist review committee. The scientists’ report is 
expected to be completed by the end of 2012, after which time the Code Development Committee will focus on 
developing the new Code of Practice. 

On-Farm Food Safety

Canadian chicken farmers are implementing the program on their farms and undergo an annual audit of their 
farm practices and the implementation of the Safe, Safer, Safest program requirements. To date, over 97% of 
the 2,700 chicken farmers in Canada are certified on the OFFSAP. 

CFC has been auditing and fine-tuning Safe, Safer, Safest for over a decade and has been 
actively involved in the government recognition process which provides credibility to 
the program. CFC was the first commodity to receive Technical Recognition Part I 
from the FPT governments for the OFFSAP producer manual, and was the second 
commodity to receive Technical Recognition Part II for the management manual. 

The final step, to receive Full Recognition from the FPT governments, requires a 
3rd party audit which will assess the implementation of the producer manual and the 
management manual. CFC is currently in the process of initiating this audit with the objective 
of obtaining Full Recognition in 2012. Upon successful completion, CFC would then become the first commodity 
in Canada to receive Full Recognition by the FPT governments. 

CFC REPORT continued
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Animal Health

CFC, in conjunction with provincial boards and government partners, have developed and implemented a 
strong animal disease preparedness and response plan.  Improvement in these areas is continuous and in 
2011 the focus was on participating in the National Farm Animal Health and Welfare Council, recognition of 
chicken’s traceability system and finalizing a set of biosecurity guidelines for the service sector. 

A key component of the disease response toolbox has been traceability within the Canadian poultry industry. 
Much of the traceability data that is required when a disease has been identified is available due to the benefits 
of supply management. In addition, provincial boards have implemented further capabilities based on lessons 
learned from previous cases of disease. 

Currently, all farmers are identified, all premises and barns are identified, farm locations have been mapped 
using GPS and data that is collected for each flock includes the identity of the hatchery, placement date, 
number of birds placed, identity of the processor, planned shipping date, actual shipping date and the number 
of birds shipped. 

Due to these systems, farms within 3 km and 10 km zones can be identified within hours and this information 
can be quickly transmitted to governments via pre-existing emergency response teams that are located in 
each province. This data collection and traceability approach meets the objectives of the FPT traceability 
standards and recent avian influenza cases have demonstrated international acceptance with the policies and 
procedures that are being implemented.

Canadian Poultry Research Council

CFC is one of the five founding members of the Canadian Poultry Research Council (CPRC) and is proud to be 
involved with an organization that focuses on Canadian research for Canadian farmers. 

CPRC was established in 2001 with a mandate to create and implement programs for poultry research and 
development that address current and future industry needs. Jacob Middelkamp, from Alberta, is CFC’s 
representative on the CPRC Board of Directors and is the current CPRC chairman. 

To date, CPRC has allocated $2,540,058 to foster poultry research and these funds have been leveraged to 
over $12.4 million. Furthermore, CPRC has committed an additional $412,493 to poultry research for projects 
that are currently under consideration for matching funding and which could be leveraged for another $2.3 
million.

By the end of 2011, CFC’s research fund reached just over $5.6 million, demonstrating CFC’s on-going 
commitment to research. Interest earned by the Research Fund is the source of CFC’s annual support for 
poultry research projects and initiatives.

CFC  REPORT continued
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Antimicrobial Use

Antimicrobial use and resistance continued to be a critical priority for CFC in 2011. CFC’s 2011 action plan built 
on the successes of 2010 and the implementation of CFC’s five-point plan towards addressing antimicrobial 
use (AMU) and resistance (AMR). 

The five points of the plan are: 
1. Working cooperatively with the Canadian Integrated Program for Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance 

(CIPARS) of the Public Health Agency of Canada to perform surveillance.
2. Actively funding research examining antimicrobial resistance and alternatives to antibiotic use. 
3. Implemented the Safe, Safer, Safest On-Farm Food Safety Assurance Program to standardize on-farm food 

safety production practices.
4. Educating consumers on safe handling and cooking of chicken.
5. Developing an industry strategy on antimicrobial use and resistance that includes assessing methods for 

reducing antibiotic usage.

For several years CFC has worked cooperatively with the Canadian Integrated Program for Antimicrobial 
Resistance Surveillance (CIPARS) of the Public Health Agency of Canada to perform antimicrobial resistance 
surveillance. Since 2002, CIPARS has been performing surveillance activities at processing plants and at retail. 

CFC has actively cooperated with the CIPARS to expand this program to include an on-farm surveillance 
component that will monitor antibiotic usage and antibiotic resistance levels. This program is set for 
implementation in early 2012 and will be important to help industry and government determine future antibiotic 
use and resistance policies.

Government Relations

Government Relations continues to be a priority for CFC. Our industry is faced daily with meeting the challenges 
presented by changes in government, legislation and policies. Our mandate is to ensure that the voices of our 
farmers are heard, both domestically and internationally, when important agriculture, food safety, and trade 
policy decisions are made.

New GR Strategy
In 2011, CFC began implementing an enhanced Government Relations program. In this first year of the strategy, 
CFC focused on increasing our monitoring activities; establishing key relationships with Ministers’ offices, 
key committee chairs, and opposition critics; implementing an issues management process; planning and 
developing an issues briefing book; increasing our involvement with CFA; and providing input into Growing 
Forward II to ensure that the Canadian chicken industry is well supported. 

CFC REPORT continued
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Key Presentation to the House of Commons Standing on Health – Sub-Committee on Food Safety
In March, CFC appeared before the House of Commons Standing on Health – Sub-Committee on Food Safety 
who were studying the use of antibiotics in livestock production. Our presentation focused on 4 key areas: 
•	 Misconceptions associated with antibiotic use
•	 CFC’s support for government regulations and monitoring
•	 CFC’s support for the judicious use of antibiotics
•	 CFC’s 5-point plan to address antimicrobial use and resistance 

CFC also made three key recommendations to the Committee:
•	 That sustainable funding be provided to the Canadian Integrated Program for Antimicrobial Resistance 

Surveillance so that CIPARS can perform surveillance work on all commodities at the points of interest 
needed to provide sound advice on future policy decisions. 

•	 That the funding for research projects into gut microbiology and alternatives to antibiotics, through 
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada or other sources such as NSERC, is maintained or increased.

•	 That government and industry only use sound and credible scientific information to determine future 
antibiotic use and resistance options and policies.

Key Presentation to the House of Commons Standing Committee on Agriculture and Agri-food
In December, CFC appeared before the House of Commons Standing Committee on Agriculture and Agri-
food on Growing Forward 2, Business Risk Management. David Fuller, Chair, emphasized the fact that 
supply management is our primary business risk management program and took the opportunity to six key 
recommendations to the committee: 

•	 That the government work closely with CFC to implement the recommendations of the Chicken Imports 
Working Group (CIWG) to ensure that there is no circumvention of our tariff rate quota and thereby maintain 
the effectiveness of our import control pillar.

•	 That the government review the AgriStability program to ensure that livestock and poultry commodities 
are not disadvantaged by the program’s calendar year design and that supply management farmers 
would be able to pay premiums once a 30% decline is triggered.

•	 That the government put in place a permanent program. Barring that, CFC would recommend that the list 
of events covered, including a disease outbreak would trigger the program no matter how many farmers 
are directly affected.

•	 That the government review the AgriRecovery program to find an effective animal production insurance 
model.

•	 That the government recognize the benefit of all industry risk mitigation programs and their positive 
impact on government’s business risk management portfolio and that government provide continued 
financial assistance for the development and ongoing implementation of these industry business risk 
management programs.

•	 That the government commit sufficient funds through Growing Forward II to poultry research and 
innovation to maintain and enhance the capability of the current initiative.

CFC  REPORT continued
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Provincial Quota Holdings 2011 (kgs live weight/cycle)

 
 

Lower Mainland Vancouver Island Interior Total
Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers % Kilograms %

Mainstream 243 26,579,992 16 470,691 41 3,067,008 300 90% 30,117,691 97%

Specialty 33 811,986 0 -   0 -   33 10% 811,986 3%

Total 276 27,391,978 16 470,691 41 3,067,008 333 30,929,677

% 83% 89% 5% 2% 12% 10%

2000 bird (Annual)
Permit Holders

26 36 55 117

We have 330 registered growers as 3 growers hold both Mainstream and Specialty Quota.  

Total Provincial Production (kilograms live weight)

Year Type Domestic Market Development Total
2010 Mainstream  188,930,455  12,971,696  201,902,151 

Specialty  5,118,075  595,179  5,713,254 

Total  194,048,530  13,566,875  207,615,405 

2011 Mainstream  187,444,647  16,076,161  203,520,808 

Specialty  4,991,514  631,071  5,622,585 

Total  192,436,160  16,707,233  209,143,393 

In 2011 BC Produced 0.74 % more than  in 2010

Production Statistics continued
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Provincial Production of Chicken 2009 – 2011 (Kilograms Eviscerated Weight)
Production from Jan.1 to Dec.31, 2009 - 2011 (Kilograms Eviscerated Weight)

Province 2011 2010 11/10 2009 10/09
B.C. 154,034,157 152,718,658 0.9% 152,922,588 -0.1%

Alberta 92,083,430 92,936,570 -0.9% 89,084,839 4.3%

Saskatchewan 39,595,960 39,854,382 -0.6% 37,798,248 5.4%

Manitoba 42,286,745 42,470,993 -0.4% 42,399,625 0.2%

Western 328,000,292 327,980,603 0.0% 322,205,300 1.8%

Ontario 334,596,494 332,618,397 0.6% 329,005,774 1.1%

Quebec 280,072,118 281,189,644 -0.4% 279,923,464 0.5%

Central 614,668,612 613,808,041 0.1% 608,929,238 0.8%

New Brunswick 28,344,957 27,785,230 2.0% 27,388,445 1.4%

Nova Scotia 34,591,779 34,732,312 -0.4% 34,562,887 0.5%

P.E.I. 3,738,339 3,675,381 1.7% 3,644,808 0.8%

Newfoundland 13,412,621 13,661,594 -1.8% 13,150,499 3.9%

Atlantic 80,087,696 79,854,517 0.3% 78,746,639 1.4%

TOTAL 1,022,756,600 1,021,643,161 0.1% 1,009,881,177 1.2%

Levy Rates (cents/kg)

Province Provincial Levy CFC Levy Total Levy
B.C. 1.16 0.44 1.60

Alberta 1.16 0.44 1.60

Saskatchewan 1.41 0.44 1.85

Manitoba 1.30 0.44 1.74

Ontario 1.40 0.44 1.84

Quebec 1.32 0.44 1.76

New Brunswick 0.80 0.44 1.24

Nova Scotia 0.95 0.44 1.39

P.E.I. 1.00 0.44 1.44

Newfoundland 1.06 0.44 1.50

Source:  CFC effective September 2011
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2011 BC Broiler Quota Marketing Periods
Amount of quota marketings going through licenced agencies in 2011:

Period Start Date End Date Mainstream Quota Utilization
A-101 2010-Nov-07 2011-Jan-01 92.20%

A-102 2011-Jan-02 2011-Feb-26 99.58%

A-103 2011-Feb-27 2011-Apr-23 98.21%

A-104 2011-Apr-24 2011-Jun-18 100.45%

A-105 2011-Jun-19 2011-Aug-13 98.45%

A-106 2011-Aug-14 2011-Oct-08 93.55%

A-107 2011-Oct-09 2011-Dec-03 92.89%

A-108 2011-Dec-04 2012-Jan-28 85.89%

Mainstream Posted Live Price
(Dollars per kilogram live weight)

A-102 A-103 A-104 A-105 A-106 A-107 A-108 Difference (Jan - Dec)

BC 1.5290 1.4650 1.6333 1.6742 1.7463 1.7450 1.6909 -0.1619

AB 1.5045 1.4405 1.6095 1.6505 1.7225 1.7212 1.6672 -0.1627

SK 1.4967 1.4334 1.6038 1.6442 1.7146 1.7129 1.6589 -0.1622

MB 1.4870 1.7230 1.5900 1.6310 1.7053 1.7043 1.6483 -0.1613

ON 1.4720 1.4080 1.5760 1.6170 1.6900 1.6890 1.6350 -0.1630

QC 1.4720 1.4040 1.5760 1.6170 1.6900 1.6890 1.6350 -0.1630

NB 1.5370 1.4730 1.6410 1.6820 1.7550 1.7540 1.7000 -0.1630

NS 1.5370 1.4730 1.6410 1.6820 1.7550 1.7530 1.6990 -0.1620

Average 1.5044 1.4775 1.6088 1.6497 1.7223 1.7211 1.6668 -0.1624

Production Statistics continued
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2011 Provincial Farm Gate Sales
Mainstream $  333,881,700.40 

Specialty (TC) $  13,243,956.00 

Specialty (Org) $ 3,152,711.94 

Total $ 350,278,368.34 

Pricing for Specialty Chicken
(kilograms live weight)

TC
Category 1
Up to 82 days of age

Category 2
83 to 110 days of age

Category 3
Over 110 days of age

Organic

A-102  $2.503  $2.707  $2.862  $3.430 

A-103  $2.571  $2.778  $2.942  $3.430 

A-104  $2.571  $2.778  $2.942  $3.430 

A-105  $2.637  $2.846  $3.019  $3.430 

A-106  $2.637  $2.846  $3.019  $3.430 

A-107  $2.710  $2.922  $3.105  $3.430 

A-108  $2.710  $2.922  $3.105  $3.430 

Production Statistics continued
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A-105
(Jun 19 – Aug 13/11)

A-106
(Aug 14 – Oct 8/11)

A-107
(Oct 9 – Dec 3/11)

Province Allocation Production % Allocation Production % Allocation Production %
BC 33,227,715 32,996,758 99.3% 32,009,140 32,422,563 101.3% 31,154,053 31,234,369 100.3%

Alta. 19,890,241 19,286,972 97.0% 18,958,045 18,903,167 99.7% 18,171,745 18,249,648 100.4%

Sask. 8,474,341 8,057,100 95.1% 8,166,587 8,048,687 98.6% 7,924,725 8,037,507 101.4%

Man. 9,163,235 8,985,672 98.1% 8,819,090 8,836,526 100.2% 8,564,062 8,990,488 105.0%

Ont. 71,549,009 69,892,694 97.7% 68,144,566 68,527,707 100.6% 65,702,796 68,411,861 104.1%

Que. 59,714,999 59,166,935 99.1% 57,375,826 57,523,837 100.3% 55,776,621 56,338,014 101.0%

N.B. 5,968,601 6,102,474 102.2% 5,717,332 5,866,879 102.6% 5,548,005 5,770,957 104.0%

N.S. 7,571,759 7,323,144 96.7% 7,117,905 7,052,734 99.1% 6,815,885 7,220,615 105.9%

P.E.I. 769,890 755,385 98.1% 741,741 780,979 105.3% 737,937 758,012 102.7%

Nfld. 2,924,423 2,858,414 97.7% 2,796,796 2,695,010 96.4% 2,727,118 2,787,208 102.2%

Canada 219,254,213 215,425,548 98.3% 209,847,028 210,658,089 100.4% 203,122,947 207,798,679 102.3%

A-102
(Jan 2 - Feb 26/11)

A-103
(Feb 27 - Apr 23/11)

A-104
(Apr 24 - Jun 18/11)

Province Allocation Production % Allocation Production % Allocation Production %
BC 32,050,913 32,729,617 102.1% 32,548,173 32,112,577 98.7% 33,511,523 33,687,584 100.5%

Alta. 19,559,901 19,239,248 98.4% 19,897,363 19,930,243 100.2% 20,261,474 20,282,776 100.1%

Sask. 8,317,297 8,570,296 103.0% 8,289,069 8,322,951 100.4% 8,666,979 8,671,765 100.1%

Man. 8,849,474 8,695,533 98.3% 8,970,241 8,981,336 100.1% 9,203,138 9,116,896 99.1%

Ont. 70,248,806 70,498,775 100.4% 69,410,783 70,304,756 101.3% 74,109,969 74,145,506 100.0%

Que. 59,018,134 59,023,459 100.0% 59,143,286 59,414,565 100.5% 60,918,223 61,256,109 100.6%

N.B. 5,837,513 5,941,496 101.8% 5,855,954 5,918,079 101.1% 6,098,038 6,121,037 100.4%

N.S. 7,203,859 7,250,947 100.7% 7,345,244 7,314,323 99.6% 7,534,122 7,783,582 103.3%

P.E.I. 776,990 761,774 98.0% 783,584 780,510 99.6% 774,073 785,188 101.4%

Nfld. 2,871,487 2,784,599 97.0% 2,880,976 2,971,152 103.1% 2,919,301 2,915,590 99.9%

Canada 214,734,374 215,495,744 100.4% 215,124,673 216,050,492 100.4% 223,996,840 224,766,033 100.3%
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Source:  
CFC and AAFC (AAFC data where CFC data is incomplete)

The Allocation information above includes all inter-provindial quota transfers 
and revisions to market development/export commitments.

Note:  
Allocation includes both domestic and market development.
Production is all birds processed in each province. 
All numbers in kilograms live weight

A-108
(Dec 4/11 – Jan 28/12)

TOTAL
(A-102 to A-108)

Province Allocation Production % Allocation Production %
BC 28,844,514 29,228,925 101.3% 223,346,031 224,412,393 100.5%

Alta. 17,903,345 18,209,567 101.7% 134,642,114 134,101,621 99.6%

Sask. 7,702,323 7,915,210 102.8% 57,541,321 57,623,516 100.1%

Man. 8,090,939 8,232,993 101.8% 61,660,179 61,839,444 100.3%

Ont. 62,777,763 63,137,081 100.6% 481,943,692 484,918,380 100.6%

Que. 54,095,715 53,656,583 99.2% 406,042,804 406,379,502 100.1%

N.B. 5,392,306 5,777,494 107.1% 40,417,749 41,498,416 102.7%

N.S. 6,785,496 7,089,076 104.5% 50,374,270 51,034,421 101.3%

P.E.I. 741,741 758,944 102.3% 5,325,956 5,380,792 101.0%

Nfld. 2,699,411 2,567,595 95.1% 19,819,512 19,579,568 98.8%

Canada 195,033,553 196,573,468 100.8% 1,481,113,628 1,486,768,053 100.4%
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FILING A 
REGULATED MARKETING APPEAL 
WITH THE
BRITISH COLUMBIA FARM 
INDUSTRY REVIEW BOARD
A person aggrieved or dissatisfied with an order, decision or determination of the following commodity marketing 
boards and commissions may appeal to the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board: 

British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Commission 
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
British Columbia Cranberry Marketing Commission
British Columbia Egg Marketing Board 
British Columbia Hog Marketing Commission 
British Columbia Milk Marketing Board 
British Columbia Turkey Marketing Board
British Columbia Vegetable Marketing Commission 
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What is the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board? 
The British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board (BCFIRB) is an administrative tribunal that has statutory 
responsibility for exercising regulatory and adjudicative functions independent of government in its general 
supervision of BC regulated marketing boards and commissions and in hearing regulated marketing appeals 
and farm practices complaints.

Originally known as the British Columbia Marketing Board (“BCMB”), BCFIRB was created in 1934 under 
the NPMA to supervise the commodity boards. Over the years, the role has been expanded and its authority 
redefined to address changes in the regulated marketing sector.

BCFIRB is composed of up to ten members appointed by Lieutenant Governor-in-Council (LGIC). There are 
presently six part-time appointees, with experience in production, marketing, law and education related to 
agricultural issues. 

How long do I have to appeal? 
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal not more than thirty (30) days after the order, decision or 
determination of the commodity board or commission is made. BCFIRB may extend this deadline, but only in 
what it considers special circumstances.

Do I need legal counsel? 
Only if you want or think you need it. It is your decision to make, and you will be responsible for paying your 
own lawyer. 

Where do I send the appeal? 
Either by mail, courier, fax or email as follows: 

Mail:     Courier:
Attention: Executive Director    Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board
PO Box 9129 Stn Prov Govt    780 Blanshard Street
Victoria BC V8W 9B5     Victoria BC V8W 2H1

Email:     Fax:
firb@gov.bc.ca    250-356-5131

What should be included in the notice of appeal? 
The notice of appeal must be accompanied by a non-refundable $100.00 filing fee. Cheque or money orders 
should be made out to the “Minister of Finance”. 
The notice of appeal must include the following:
•	 be in writing and signed
•	 identify the decision being appealed
•	 state why the decision should be changed
•	 state the outcome requested from BCFIRB 
•	 include your name, address, telephone number, email (or the contact information of the person handling 

appeal for you)
•	 include an address for delivery of any notices related to the appeal

Appeal Process continued
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What happens when the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board receives the appeal?
BCFIRB will send you a letter acknowledging the receipt of your appeal. This letter will also contain information 
which explains the appeal process in greater detail. At the same time, BCFIRB will notify the commodity board 
or commission concerned that an appeal has been filed and instruct them of their responsibilities as outlined 
in the Rules of Practice and Procedure. BCFIRB will also ensure that the commodity board or commission has 
received a copy of your notice of appeal.

BCFIRB will issue notice to the parties requiring them to attend a pre-hearing conference call. The purpose of 
the pre-hearing conference will be to clarify the issue on appeal and determine the position of each party as 
well as the remedies sought by the appellant.  The pre-hearing conference call will also be used to confirm 
hearing dates and directions for the appeal hearing.

BCFIRB encourages parties to consider ADR alternatives to facilitate settlements of the matter under appeal and 
will assist the parties in establishing an ADR process. Parties can apply to BCFIRB requesting ADR. Discussions 
about possible ADR alternatives will also be an agenda item for the pre-hearing conference.

The hearing of your appeal will normally be held not more than 60 days after BCFIRB first receives your notice 
of appeal; however, these timelines will be dependent upon the circumstances of all the parties to the appeal.

What is the most important thing for me to remember? 
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal within 30 days of an order, decision or determination of the 
commodity board or commission.  Failure to meet this deadline may result in BCFIRB not hearing your appeal.

How can I get more information? 
For further information please refer to the Rules of Practice and Procedures. Section 8 of the Natural Products 
Marketing (BC) Act, and the Administrative Tribunals Act further describe the appeal process and are available 
on BCFIRB’s website at: www.firb.gov.bc.ca.  The standing orders of the commodity board or commission 
involved may also contain information.

Should you have any further questions please feel free to contact BCFIRB: 

Phone: 250 356-8945 
Fax: 250 356-5131 
Email: firb@gov.bc.ca

Updated August/ 2010

Appeal Process continued
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Revenue
Levies 3,269,407

Licenses 7,500

CFC OFFSAP & ACP funding 10,000

Other 10,000

Total Revenue 3,296,907

Expenses
Audit, Legal, Consulting 185,000

Bank charges 7,000

BCCGA operating grant 423,305

Bio-security supplies 7,500

Board travel, expenses & per diems 390,000

CFC and staff travel 100,000

CFC levy 899,087

Computer maintenance 20,000

Insurance 13,000

Memberships and subscriptions 16,000

New entrant grower program 1,000

Office maintenance 15,000

Postage, printing, telecommunications 86,000

PPAC & SMAC expense 7,500

Promotions 60,000

Rent 112,500

Salaries and benefits 775,500

Training 10,000

DEPI funding 25,000

Vancouver Island freight subsidy 65,000

BCCMB 50th Anniversary 75,000

Vehicle expense 35,000

Total Expenses 3,328,392

Surplus (Deficit) before other 
items

-31,485

Depreciation (non cash expense) -58,700

Reserve Interest 65,000

Net Surplus (Deficit) -25,185

2012 Operating Budget



35

Consulting

BCCGA operating 
grant
13%

Board Member 
Expenses

12%

CFC levy
27%

Rent
3%

Salaries and 
bene�ts

23%

Vancouver Island 
freight subsidy

2%
Operations

14%

Audit, Legal, 

6%

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004* 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

M
ill

io
ns

Sales Growth of “GROWN IN BC”
Chicken in Millions of Kilograms (Evisc Wt.)

Operating Budget 2012

Sales Growth 1980 - 2011



36



37

British Columbia 
Chicken Marketing Board

Financial Statements
December 31, 2011



38

 

 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Table of Contents 

For the year ended December 31, 2011 
 

 

 Page 

Management's Responsibility 
 

Auditors' Report  

Financial Statements  

Statement of Financial Position ........................................................................................................................................................  41

Statement of Operations ...................................................................................................................................................................  42

Statement of Changes in Net Assets ................................................................................................................................................  43 

Statement of Cash Flows ..................................................................................................................................................................  44 

Notes to the Financial Statements .....................................................................................................................................................  45 

Schedule of Expenses ........................................................................................................................................................................  51 

BCCMB Financial Statements continued



39

Management's Responsibility

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and ensuring
that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting
principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board and Finance and Audit Committee of the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board are
composed entirely of Members who are neither management nor employees of the Board. The Board is responsible for overseeing
management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the
annual report. The Board fulfils these responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing
relevant matters with management and external auditors.  The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the
Board's external auditors.

MNP LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, is appointed by the members to audit the  financial statements and report
directly to them; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both
the Committee and management to discuss their audit findings.

March 26, 2012

__________________________               
General Manager        

BCCMB Financial Statements continued
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:  

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2011, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board as at December 31, 2011 and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Abbotsford, British Columbia

March 26, 2012 Chartered Accountants

300 - 32988 South Fraser Way, Abbotsford, British Columbia, V2S 2A8, Phone: (604) 853-9471, 1 (877) 853-9471

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:  

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2011, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board as at December 31, 2011 and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Abbotsford, British Columbia

March 26, 2012 Chartered Accountants

300 - 32988 South Fraser Way, Abbotsford, British Columbia, V2S 2A8, Phone: (604) 853-9471, 1 (877) 853-9471
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2011

2011 2010

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents  1,004,835 522,792
Accounts receivable  453,816 472,548
Prepaid expenses  41,186 18,534

1,499,837 1,013,874

Capital assets  (Note 3) 97,590 137,521

Investment restricted for contingency fund  (Note 4) 2,266,701 2,203,092

Other asset  (Note 5) 12,000 24,000

3,876,128 3,378,487

Liabilities
Current  

Accounts payable and accruals  191,324 221,192
Deferred contributions  (Note 6) - 21,409
Deferred revenue  62,803 -

254,127 242,601

Contingencies  (Note 7)

Commitments  (Note 8)

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets  97,590 137,521
Restricted for contingency fund  2,266,701 2,203,092
Unrestricted  1,257,710 795,273

3,622,001 3,135,886

3,876,128 3,378,487

Approved on behalf of the Board

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
 Statement of Operations 

For the year ended December 31, 2011 
 

   2011   2010  
 
Revenues      

Grower assessments  (Note 9)   3,346,209  3,321,902  
Domestic lease income  391,313 27,279 
Interest and sundry     80,874  73,224  
Over marketing levies     194,051  347,665  
CFC Animal Care Program  64,200                     - 
CFC Provincial Promotion Sponsorship  (Note 6)   21,409  41,481  
Licences     8,160  7,842  
Food safety systems funding     4,933  6,087  
Permit fees  2,502 1,885 
CFC on-farm food safety program funding     - 75,204  

    4,113,651  3,902,569 
Expenses    
Operational expenses  (Schedule 1)  3,126,642  3,487,723  

Excess revenues over expenses  987,009 414,846 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
 Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

   For the year ended December 31, 2011 

 
 Invested in Restricted for Unrestricted 2011 2010 
 capital assets Contingency 

Fund 
   

 

Net assets, beginning of year 137,521 2,203,092 795,273 3,135,886 2,721,040 

Excess of revenues over expenses   (47,979) - 1,034,988 987,009 414,846 

Distribution of prior years’ surplus (Note 11) - - (500,894) (500,894) - 

Net change in capital assets    8,048 - (8,048) - - 

Income earned on restricted assets - 63,609 (63,609)                                    - - 

Net assets, end of year   97,590 2,266,701 1,257,710 3,622,001 3,135,886 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2011

2011 2010

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities

Excess revenues over expenses 987,009 414,845
Amortization 58,778 58,587
Loss on disposal of capital assets 1,200 -
Accrued interest income adjustment (63,608) 25,016

   983,379 498,448
Changes in working capital accounts  

Accounts receivable 18,732 (62,637)
Prepaid expenses (22,652) (5,059)
Accounts payable and accruals (29,868) (142,839)
Deferred contributions (21,409) (621)
Deferred revenue 62,803 -

   990,985 287,292

Financing activities   
Distribution of prior year's operating surplus to growers   (500,894) -

Investing activities   
Purchase of capital assets   (8,048) (24,387)
Purchase of investment restricted for contingency fund   - (73,847)

   (8,048) (98,234)

Increase in cash resources  482,043 189,058
Cash resources, beginning of year   522,792 333,734

Cash resources, end of year   1,004,835 522,792

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2011

1. Organization  

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board ("the Board") was established in 1961 by the Natural Products Marketing
(British Columbia) Act to promote, control and regulate the transportation, processing, packing, storage, and marketing of all
classes of chicken in British Columbia.  The Board is a non-profit agricultural organization and is exempt from income taxes
pursuant to subsection 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and
include the following significant accounting policies:

Cash and term deposits  

Cash includes cash on hand and balances with banks. Term deposits subject to restrictions that prevent its use for current
purposes is included as restricted assets.

Capital assets  

Capital assets are recorded at cost. The cost for contributed capital assets is considered to be fair value at the date of
contribution.  Amortization is provided using the following methods at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their
estimated useful lives. 

Method Rate
Computer hardware declining balance 30 %
Computer software declining balance 100 %
Furniture and office equipment declining balance 10 %
Website declining balance 20 %

In the year of purchase, assets are amortized at one half of the regular rate.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the remaining life of the lease agreement at the time the leasehold
improvement is purchased. Therefore, the assets will be amortized over a period of 1 to 5 years.

Other asset  

Other asset represent an indefinite software license purchase which is recorded at cost, net of accumulated amortization.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over a 5 year period.

Long-lived assets  

Long-lived assets consists of capital assets and other asset.  Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized
as described in the applicable accounting policies.

The Board performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized
when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the asset’s carrying amount.  Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value.  Any impairment is included in the
statement of operations for the year.

Prices for similar items are used to measure fair value of long-lived assets.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2011

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Fund accounting  

In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Board, the
accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis.  Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting
purposes into funds.  These funds are held in accordance with the objectives specified by the contributors or in accordance
with the directives issued by the Board of Directors.

Three funds are currently maintained: Unrestricted Fund, Capital Asset Fund and Restricted Contingency Fund.

Unrestricted Fund
The Unrestricted Fund is used to account for all revenues and expenses related to general and ancillary operations of the
Board.

Capital Assets Fund
The Capital Assets Fund is used to account for all capital assets of the organization and to present the flow of funds related
to their acquisition and disposal, unexpended capital resources and debt commitments.

Restricted Contingency Fund
The Restricted Contingency Fund is pursuant to Part 15 "Distribution of Board Operating Surplus" of the General Orders, to
which the Board has established a fund represented by cash or cash equivalents in the minimum amount of $2,000,000 and
not to exceed one year of budgeted Board expenses, to be used to fund expenditures for unforeseen circumstances.  Any
amount deemed to be in excess to the set level of the contingency will be distributed to growers in proportion to the amount
of the levy paid by a grower.  The Board has reserved the right to change the amount required in the Restricted
Contingency Fund and/or the levy rate at any time.  In order to qualify for a distribution a grower must be in good standing
and be a current grower with the Board at the time that a distribution is declared.  Investment income generated will be re-
invested into the Restricted Contingency Fund.

Revenue recognition  

Grower assessments are recognized as revenue when chickens are shipped to the processors.  Over marketing levies in
respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced to the grower approximately three weeks
after the end of the production period.  Over marketing levies are recognized on the date of each individual grower’s
shipment. 

Domestic lease charges in respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced to the grower
approximately two months prior to the start of the production period. Domestic lease payments are recognized on the date
of each individual grower's shipment. 

Measurement uncertainty  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. 

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary.  Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets and other
asset.  

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in
excess of revenues and expenses in the periods in which they become known. 
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2011

2. Significant accounting policies  (Continued from previous page)

Financial instruments  

The Board as part of its operations carries a number of financial instruments.  The Board has classified the following
financial assets as held for trading: unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and investment restricted for contingency fund.
These instruments are initially recognized at their fair value.   Transactions to purchase or sell these items are recorded on
the trade date and transaction costs are immediately recognized in net income.

Held for trading financial instruments are subsequently measured at their fair value, without any deduction for transaction
costs incurred on sale or other disposal.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized immediately in
income.  

Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables, while accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as
other financial liabilities.  These accounts are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

Fees incurred on an exchange of financial liabilities or a modification of the terms of financial liabilities that is accounted for
as an extinguishment are included as part of the gain or loss on extinguishment, while any related other costs incurred are
recognized in current year earnings.  All fees and costs incurred on the exchange or modification of a financial liability not
accounted for as an extinguishment are recognized in current year earnings.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations

In October 2010, the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) approved the accounting standards for private sector not-for-profit
organizations (NFPOs) to be included in Part III of the CICA Handbook-Accounting (“Handbook”). Part III will comprise:

 The existing “4400 series” of standards dealing with the unique circumstances of NFPOs, currently in Part V of the

Handbook; and

 The new accounting standards for private enterprises in Part II of the Handbook, to the extent that they would apply to

NFPOs.

Effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2012, private sector NFPOs will have the option to adopt either Part III
of the Handbook or International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Earlier adoption is permitted. The Board expects to
adopt Part III of the Handbook as its new financial reporting standards. The Board has not yet determined the impact of the
adoption of Part III of the Handbook on its financial statements.

3. Capital assets     

2011 2010
Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Computer hardware 194,343 163,223 31,120 36,837
Computer software 148,207 148,207 - -
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 334,494 306,374 28,120 31,244
Website 18,910 9,228 9,682 12,103
Leasehold improvements 209,417 180,749 28,668 57,337

905,371 807,781 97,590 137,521
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2011

4. Investment restricted for contingency fund

Investment restricted for contingency fund consists of five escalator term deposits which bear interest at 3.686 % (2010:
1.75%), maturing in June 2012.  In the prior year the investment restricted for contingency fund consisted of a guaranteed
investment certificate that earned interest at 3.0% per annum and matured in June 2010.

5. Other asset     

A computer software license was purchased in 2008 for $60,000 and is being amortized using the straight-line method over
5 years.  

6. Deferred contributions

During 2010 provincial program funding was received from the Chicken Farmers of Canada ("CFC"), to be spent on
approved promotional projects.   

2011 2010

Opening balance 21,409 22,030
Funding received - 40,860
Approved expenses (21,409) (41,481)

Closing balance - 21,409

7. Unused credit facility  

On April 6, 2004 the Board entered into a credit facility agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada which provides for the
following funding:

(a)  $350,000 revolving facility for general operating requirements by way of Royal Bank loans.  This facility bears interest at
bank prime lending rates plus 0.3% and is payable monthly.  The borrowings under this facility are due on demand.

(b)  $268,275 of letters of credit and guarantee to the CFC for liquidated damages pertaining to potential levies on excess
production allocated to the province.  The borrowings under this facility are due on demand.

The agreement is secured by a general security agreement covering all assets of the board, certified copies of Board
Members' resolutions authorizing the Board to borrow up to a maximum of $644,000 and an enforceable letter of
undertaking from the Board confirming that the number of birds placed on the farms will equal what the processors have
agreed to purchase.

The agreement contains certain covenants in respect to levies imposed on growers, regulation of the placement of birds
with processors and provision of weekly production reports.

The agreement was renewed on December 9, 2009.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2011

8. Commitments     

(a)  The Board has leased office space with annual rent of $55,567 (2010 - $55,567), including triple net expenses, until
August 31, 2012.

(b)  The Board has entered into three vehicle leases with the total scheduled payments (including HST) as follows: 

2012 14,269
2013 12,348
2014 11,897

9. Grower assessments     

The levy on all growers is 1.60 cents (2010 - 1.60) per kilogram, live weight on all chicken grown in British Columbia which
is inclusive of the CFC service fee.  Of the levy assessed, 0.44 cents (2010 - 0.44) is remitted to the CFC for services
provided.

10. Related party transactions  

The following related party transactions have occurred during the year:

The operating grant totaling $394,055 (2010 - $378,330) and rent expense of $57,000 (2010 - $57,000) were paid to The
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association (BCCGA), incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia.  As at the
year ended December 31, 2011 the BCCGA had a surplus of revenue over expenditures of $25,000 (2010 - $60,000) which
was returned to the Board reducing the operating grant from $419,055 to $394,055 (included in accounts receivable). 

The BCCGA's mandate is to unite commercial chicken growers for the betterment of the industry and act as a liaison
between the chicken growers, marketing boards, industry and government.  It is primarily funded by a grant from the Board
which approves the Association's annual operating budget. 

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

11. Distribution of prior years' surplus  

The Board distributes to growers based upon the total surplus calculated as select current assets less select current
liabilities at year-end less one month's budgeted operating expenses.  The following outlines the funds that were distributed
to growers in good standing and were based on the total kilograms of chicken shipped by the growers in the year the
surplus occurred:

2011 $   500,894
2010 $              0
2009 $   883,868
2008 $1,034,728
2007 $1,286,699
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2011

12. Trust assets and liabilities     

As at December 31, 2011 the Board held funds in trust with respect to the New Entrants Program for Growers.  Trust assets
held totalled $20,000 (2010 - $15,000).  The assets and offsetting liabilities are not reflected on the Board's Statement of
Financial Position.

13. Capital management

For its own purposes, the Board defines capital as the sum of net assets.  The Board is not subject to externally imposed
requirements on capital.  The Board's objectives when managing capital are to hold sufficient unrestricted net assets to
enable it to withstand negative unexpected financial events in order to maintain stability in the financial structure.  The
Board holds cash and cash equivalents to ensure sufficient liquidity.

14. Financial instruments     

The Board as part of its operations carries a number of financial instruments.  It is management's opinion that the Board is
not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments except as otherwise
disclosed.

Credit concentration

As at December 31, 2011, five processors accounted for 60% of the trade accounts receivable (2010 - five processors
accounted for 59%). The Board believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with the collection of these
receivables. The Board performs regular credit assessments of its customers and provides allowances for potentially
uncollectible accounts receivable.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2011

2011 2010

Expenses
Operating expenses

Advertising and promotion  33,543 22,122
Amortization  58,778 58,587
B.C. Chicken Growers Association   (Note 10) 394,055 378,330
B.C. DEPI expenses  - 13,666
Bank charges and interest  7,206 7,020
Board members' remuneration, travel and meals  415,457 429,609
CFC Animal Care  9,219 -
Chicken Farmers of Canada provincial promotion program  (Note 6) 21,409 41,481
Chicken Farmers of Canada levy  (Note 9) 920,568 913,100
Computer installation and consulting  22,861 24,831
Consulting fees  34,052 107,012
Dues, memberships and subscriptions  14,263 10,912
Food safety systems program  4,933 6,087
Grower price adjustment  - 111,432
Insurance  5,561 5,088
Island freight subsidy  77,863 82,693
Loss on disposal of capital assets  1,200 -
National Overproduction Penalty  - 19,108
Office supplies and stationary  62,088 58,815
PPAC expenses  3,720 1,766
Postage  14,158 9,904
Professional fees  53,683 212,643
Recovery of bad debts  - (4,213)
Rent  (Note 8), (Note 10) 110,856 110,706
Repairs and maintenance  10,503 10,719
SMAC Expenses  10,712 25,902
Salaries and benefits  745,096 730,751
Staff travel and expenses  79,430 81,338
Telephone  15,428 18,314

3,126,642 3,487,723
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MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The management of BC Chicken Growers' Association is responsible for preparing the financial
statements, the notes to the financial statements and other financial information contained in this annual
report.

Management prepares the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The financial statements are considered by management to present fairly the
management's financial position and results of operations.

The Association, in fulfilling its responsibilities, has developed and maintains a system of internal
accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that management assets are safeguarded
from loss or unauthorized use, and that the records are reliable for preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements have been reported on by Cazander Ronda & Associates, Certified General
Accountants, the shareholders' auditors. Their report outlines the scope of their examination and their
opinion on the financial statements.

Ravi Bathe, President
February 7, 2012
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* Denotes an association of incorporated professionals.
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Peter Ronda, Inc.
J.T. Cazander, C.G.A. Inc.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of 
BC Chicken Growers' Association

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BC Chicken Growers' Association, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011, and the statements of operations,
changes in net assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
Association's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Association's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
BC Chicken Growers' Association as at December 31, 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chilliwack, BC
February 7, 2012 CERTIFIED GENERAL ACCOUNTANTS
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Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2011 2010

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 165,946 $ 187,851
Accounts receivable 4,558 -
Prepaid expenses 2,235 2,745

172,739 190,596

Capital assets (Note 3) 276,688 283,835

$ 449,427 $ 474,431

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 29,997 $ 76,916
HST payable 110 1,355

30,107 78,271

Fund balances 419,320 396,160

$ 449,427 $ 474,431

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 23,160 $ 26,111
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 8,867 9,146

32,027 35,257
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (4,558) 3,257
Prepaid expenses 510 (885)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (46,917) 40,386
HST payable (1,245) 702

(20,183) 78,717

Investing 
Purchase of capital assets (1,722) (2,123)

Increase (decrease) in cash (21,905) 76,594

Cash resources, beginning of year 187,851 111,257

Cash resources, end of year $ 165,946 $ 187,851

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Revenues
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 4) $ 419,055 $ 438,330
Miscellaneous income 1,463 692

420,518 439,022

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion 3,987 1,166
Amortization 460 468
Annual picnic, dances and dinners 14,633 11,760
BC Poultry Association (Note 5) 38,006 37,967
BC Sustainable Poultry Farming Group (Note 6) 14,795 14,850
Conferences and seminars 2,891 2,116
Directors remuneration 146,107 123,936
Donations 5,657 3,378
Interest and bank charges 169 60
Meetings and refreshments 5,648 2,908
Memberships, dues and subscriptions (Note 7) 3,710 5,267
Office 2,444 2,844
Professional fees (Note 8) 23,457 64,825
Secretaries honoraria 58,725 56,450
Telephone and utilities 1,542 1,543
Travel 57,964 53,126

380,195 382,664

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 40,323 56,358

Other income (loss)
Rental income, Schedule 1 30,079 29,876
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn, Schedule 2 (22,242) (123)
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 10) (25,000) (60,000)

(17,163) (30,247)

Excess of revenues over expenditures for year $ 23,160 $ 26,111

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 23,160 $ 26,111
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 8,867 9,146
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Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (4,558) 3,257
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(20,183) 78,717

Investing 
Purchase of capital assets (1,722) (2,123)

Increase (decrease) in cash (21,905) 76,594

Cash resources, beginning of year 187,851 111,257

Cash resources, end of year $ 165,946 $ 187,851

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 3
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year ended December 31

Invested in
Capital Assets Unrestricted

Total
2011

Total
2010

Balance, beginning of year $ 283,835 $ 112,325 $ 396,160 $ 370,049

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (7,147) 30,307 23,160 26,111

Balance, end of year $ 276,688 $ 142,632 $ 419,320 $ 396,160

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 23,160 $ 26,111
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 8,867 9,146

32,027 35,257
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (4,558) 3,257
Prepaid expenses 510 (885)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (46,917) 40,386
HST payable (1,245) 702

(20,183) 78,717

Investing 
Purchase of capital assets (1,722) (2,123)

Increase (decrease) in cash (21,905) 76,594

Cash resources, beginning of year 187,851 111,257

Cash resources, end of year $ 165,946 $ 187,851

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 23,160 $ 26,111
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 8,867 9,146

32,027 35,257
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (4,558) 3,257
Prepaid expenses 510 (885)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (46,917) 40,386
HST payable (1,245) 702

(20,183) 78,717

Investing 
Purchase of capital assets (1,722) (2,123)

Increase (decrease) in cash (21,905) 76,594

Cash resources, beginning of year 187,851 111,257

Cash resources, end of year $ 165,946 $ 187,851

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 23,160 $ 26,111
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 8,867 9,146

32,027 35,257
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (4,558) 3,257
Prepaid expenses 510 (885)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (46,917) 40,386
HST payable (1,245) 702

(20,183) 78,717

Investing 
Purchase of capital assets (1,722) (2,123)

Increase (decrease) in cash (21,905) 76,594

Cash resources, beginning of year 187,851 111,257

Cash resources, end of year $ 165,946 $ 187,851

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2011

1. Incorporation and nature of business

BC Chicken Growers' Association was incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia
to unite the commercial chicken growers in working for the betterment of the chicken industry
and to act as a liaison between chicken growers and marketing boards, industry and government.

2. Accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The significant policies are detailed as follows:

Financial statement presentation

These financial statements are restricted in scope and contain a representation only of the
financial activities pertaining to the British Columbia Chicken Growers' Association.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost.  The Association provides for amortization using the
declining balance method at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their
estimated useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Buildings 4%
Educational Mini Barn 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 30%

Income taxes

The Association is registered as a non-profit agricultural organization under the Society Act of
British Columbia, and as such is exempt from income taxes pursuant to Subsection 149(1)(e) of
the Income Tax Act.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

BCCGA Financial Statements continued
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2011

2. Accounting policies (continued from previous page)

Financial instruments

The Association's financial instruments consist of cash, term deposits, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  Unless otherwise noted it is management's opinion that
the Association is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks.

The carrying value of these financial instruments approximate their fair values.

3. Capital assets

2011 2010

Cost
Accumulated
amortization Net Net

Land $ 100,277 $ - $ 100,277 $ 100,277
Buildings 243,417 86,548 156,869 163,406
Educational Mini Barn 25,475 8,143 17,332 18,622
Furniture and fixtures 6,386 5,547 839 1,049
Computer equipment 4,783 3,412 1,371 481

$ 380,338 $ 103,650 $ 276,688 $ 283,835

4. Related party transactions

During the year, the Association received operating revenue of $419,055 (2010 - $438,330) and
rental revenue of $57,000 (2010 - $57,000) from the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board.
These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
amount, which was the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related
parties.

5. BC Poultry Association

During the year, the Association paid fees to the BC Poultry Association, which represents the
feather groups in BC. The BC Poultry Association is keenly interested in the continued
development of the bio-security initiatives within the BC Poultry Industry. It will strengthen the
long term viability of the entire industry to further develop on farm strategies that will minimize
disease infections and encourage improved flock husbandry practices.

BCCGA Financial Statements continued
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2011

6. BC Sustainable Poultry Farming Group

The Association contributed $14,795 (2010 - $14,850) to the Sustainable Poultry Farming
Group, which is jointly funded by the Association, the Province of British Columbia, the British
Columbia Turkey Growers Association, the British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Producers'
Association and the Fraser Valley Egg Producers Association. Contributions are assessed at an
annual rate of $55 per Lower Mainland farm member. The Sustainable Poultry Farming Group
researches and carries out studies on environmental issues.

7. Memberships, dues and subscriptions

The Association has committed to paying dues on behalf of its members to certain provincial and
national associations and groups. Details of these memberships, dues and subscriptions are as
follows:

2011 2010

Canadian Poultry Magazine $ 3,468 $ 3,480
Canadian Broiler Council - 1,304
Other dues 242 483

$ 3,710 $ 5,267

8. Professional fees

Details of the professional fees are as follows:

2011 2010

Audit $ 4,995 $ 4,995
Consulting 17,000 6,300
Legal 1,462 53,530

$ 23,457 $ 64,825

BCCGA Financial Statements continued
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2011

9. Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn Cost Sharing

The British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Producers' Association owns 20% of the Poultry in
Motion Educational Mini Barn and shares in 20% of the net operating costs of the trailer for each
calendar year. An invoice was issued on November 23, 2011 to the BC Broiler Hatching Egg
Producers Association for $2,854 which is included in accounts receivable. This amount
represents cost sharing of $5,636 less $2,782 for per diem work and expenses that the
Association paid directly to its directors.

10. British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

At the British Columbia Chicken Growers' Association Directors' meeting of February 8, 2012,
the directors passed a motion to return $25,000 of the 2011 operating surplus to the British
Columbia Chicken Marketing Board.

11. Economic dependence

The Association receives substantially all of its funding from the British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board.

BCCGA Financial Statements continued
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
SCHEDULES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31

Schedule of rental income Schedule 1

2011 2010

Rental revenue $ 57,000 $ 57,001

Expenses
Amortization 6,536 6,809
Strata fees 10,205 10,205
Property taxes 10,180 10,111

26,921 27,125

Rental income $ 30,079 $ 29,876

Schedule of poultry in motion educational mini barn Schedule 2

2011 2010

Revenue
Operating revenue $ 17,455 $ 13,592
Cost sharing (Note 9) 5,636 -
Grants - Chicken Farmers of Canada - 27,031

23,091 40,623

Expenditures
Amortization 1,871 1,868
Attendants' remuneration 31,057 21,620
Donation - 2,500
Insurance 1,174 1,246
Operating 11,231 13,512

45,333 40,746

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn loss $ (22,242) $ (123)

BCCGA Financial Statements continued
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Divining the Entrails
a History of the BC Chicken Marketing Board

The First 50 Years
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There are no written records of BCCMB Minutes for 1961, 1962 or 1963.  
Further, there is no annual report for these years.  The only surviving piece 
of literature is a copy of the Chairman’s report, with a hand written notation 
gracing the top of the paper stating “Chairman’s report May 1963”.  

Historical records show that the BC Broiler Marketing Board came into existence 
December 12, 1961, but the office and staff did not start up until January 1, 
1962 according the report of the Chair.  However, the Board issued Interim 
Order #1 and Interim Order #2 on December 28th, 1961.  Interim Order #1 set 
the live price for broiler chicken at 18 ½ cents a pound live weight.  Interim 
Order #2 required Processors to make a deduction for the levy in the amount 
of ½ cent for “each and every bird” shipped to the processor.  The interim 
Board until the first annual AGM in May consisted of 3 appointed members: R.A. 
Blair (acted as Chair), Willem Vanden Born and K.J. Nelsen with Mr. Campbell 
Hackney as Secretary.  Mrs. J. Jolliffe acted as the recording secretary to the 
Board.  We note she was ALWAYS referred to as Mrs. Joliffe (her first name 
was Joan). 

That first report stated:

“The Marketing Board which went into operation on the 1st of January, 1962, 
and has now completed its first year of operation and has proven what can 
be accomplished by primary producers who are united in an effort to improve 
their own business and bring stability to all growers in the province, it has been 
instrumental in protecting the small family farm that in 1961 was in danger 
of disappearing from the scene.  Today the small family farm is getting a fair 
return for his labours and with the policy of the marketing board a policy which 
was formulated by this association and which the Board was very happy to 
carry through will be able to bring his operation up to an efficient level and 
assure a fair return to all growers for their labours.”  

The promotion of “broilers” as “Grown in BC Product” to the consumer was BIG 
in 1963.  Advising “Mrs. Housewife to always look for BC Grown Chicken” and 
to encourage the increased use of chicken, listing the advantages of chicken 
were other marketing ploys.  
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Growers were cautioned against a relaxation of vaccinating methods as 
Newcastle’s disease and bronchitis became prevalent causing losses to 
growers.  

Sober warnings were issued to “interests around us” that were trying every 
method to get control of our business through integration and other means 
and if successful could force most of us to become their “hired help”.  The 
Chair of the time issues a warning to these persons (who he was sure had 
representatives at the AGM) that the Board can choose who its agencies are, 
and can create its own agency to handle all the regulated poultry product in BC.  
He indicated that while he was not in favour of that at this time, before he would 
see the broiler industry being wrenched from “us” and forcing broiler growers 
to become hired persons, the Board would take drastic steps to protect the 
growers own interests.  In closing he “hoped that this will be a warning to these 
selfish greedy people to lay off and allow the broiler industry to proceed to 
produce a good quality product at a fair price to a satisfied consuming public.”  

1964 brought the first real test to the Broiler Board.  A sharp drop in prices at 
the end of the year created some hardship for growers.  Production outstripped 
consumption and the Board made a correction while other parts of Canada did 
not.   BC experienced the highest live price in North America, but it was still 
deemed to be too low for profitable production.  The situation was blamed on the 
influence of lower markets around BC and large integrators attempting to take 
over the industry and put the small farmer out of business.  Large promotion 
campaigns continued to ensure that production equalled consumption in BC 
and that the consumer was very aware of “Grown in BC” product.  Growers 
were encouraged to use the “all in all out method” rather than continuing with 
mixed ages and multiple brooding systems.  

1965 marked the end of three years in the operation of the Marketing 
Board.  The most important issue on the mind of the Board was when the 
time arrived to allow growers to transfer their quotas.  This helped stabilize 
the industry, and has put the growers in a number one credit position.  Quotas 
were rapidly nearing the point where they will equal the minimum consumption 
requirements instead of the maximum.  It was expected that this change would 
occur within the next couple of years.  Emphasis was for growers to improve 
their buildings, especially with insulation.  The Board indicated a willingness 
to cooperate with any other part of the country to keep production and prices 
in line, but were prepared at all times to compete where competition has been 
offered.  The broiler growers in Ontario have voted overwhelmingly in favour 
of a marketing board for their products.  Reports had it that Quebec, Manitoba 
and Alberta were well on their way to setting up Marketing Boards.  It was the 
expectation of the Board of the day that once this occurred, a National Broiler 
Council would be formed to bring order to the industry across Canada.  

The Board in 1966 met weekly.  They faced the difficult decision as to how 
much red meat prices would affect consumption increase.  There were those 
who said that production was too high for 1966 but then hindsight is always 
superior to foresight.  If any error was made in judgement of requirements, it 
has to have been the fact that there was not enough time allowed at the end of 
August for a clean-up period.  This was rectified for 1967.  

The live price for the year was held at an average of 21.94 cents per pound 
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(included FOB and no undergrades), although this was not felt to be a stopping 
off point.  Disappearance of product in 1966 came to just over 31 million 
pounds, which was an increase of approximately 5 million pounds over 1965.  
1966 was the kickoff year of “BBQ Barbie” on CKNW and the first year for the 
PNE Cook-Off.  

In the first half of 1967 too many broilers were produced to maintain a 
stable and profitable market demand.  The Board recognizing the difficulty the 
processors were experiencing, immediately put into effect a further reduction 
in market quota to 70% of basic.   From this experience the processors found 
that a collective co-operation between themselves would help them to plan a 
more realistic market potential, thus the formation of the “Advisory Committee 
to the Board” was formed, paving the way to better relations between the 
processors and the growers.  This new approach led to stabilized marketing 
quotas and gave foundation to the hope that in the future registered growers 
would be marketing close to 100% of quota on a year round basis.  

The Advisory Committee consisted of G. Pringle (independent chair), B. Hambley 
and L. Rosengren (growers) along with S. Downe and F. Hunt (processors).  It 
met once a month to discus the setting of basic market quotas.  The Committee 
also recommended and 8 week shipping date be established.  

The number of broilers processed in 1967 totalled 11,800,000 birds, with an 
eviscerated weight of 33,020,000 pounds a 1.2% increase over 1966.  There 
were 137 growers in the Lower Mainland and 16 on Vancouver Island.  

The “Grown in BC” campaign was credited with a 9% increase in consumption 
for 1967.  Both processors and chain stores participated fully in all promotions 
and supported the BC industry 100% by purchasing “Grown in BC” chicken 
only.    

With the formation of the Manitoba Chicken Broiler Producer’s Marketing Board 
in December of 1968, there were now seven broiler marketing boards across 
Canada, an amazing accomplishment since the inception of the BC Broiler 
Marketing Board in 1961.  The gross farm income in Canada continued to show 
a decrease in 1968, which indicated that our Nation’s primary producers do not 
as yet have a strong voice in the marketing of their product.  

BC in 1968 again experienced the highest live broiler and wholesale prices 
in comparison to the rest of the broiler producing provinces in Canada.  The 
live price averaged 21.9 cents f.o.b. farm and was approximately one cent 
a pound higher than Alberta’s whose broiler growers were still experiencing 
under grading and cartage costs.  Saskatchewan’s live price averaged at 21 ½ 
cents f.o.b. plant and no under grading averaged one cent under BC’s live price.  
Manitoba at 20 cents f.o.b. farm was two cents below BC, and the eastern 
provinces had the following average live prices:  Ontario 20.9 cents; Quebec 
20 cents and the Maritimes at 21 ¼ cents during 1968.  

In 1968 total marketings (Broilers, Cornish and Roasters) in number of birds 
at 12,130,000 showed a 3% increase over the 11,800,000 birds processed 
in 1967.  But because of the earlier shipping dates of eight weeks, the total 
eviscerated weight of all birds processed in 1968 at 33,068,000 pounds 
showed approximately the same eviscerated weight as the 33,020,000 pounds 
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processed in 1967.  The average broiler weight was 3.60 pounds and the 
average eviscerated weight 2.67 pounds (74% yield).  

No new quota was issued by the Board in 1968.  Seven growers transferred 
their quotas to other existing farms, reducing the number of growers in the 
marketing plan to 146 from 153.  In 1968, one farm was in the size range of 
100,000 – 110,000 while 5 farms were in the 50,000-100,000 range.  

The Advisory Committee met monthly during 1968, paving the way for a true 
spirit of co-operation between the growers and processors.  Gerry Pringle, due 
to his commitments as MP for Fraser Valley East, resigned as Chair of the 
committee, Newt Miller was appointed as the independent chair.  

The Board met weekly each Thursday to administer the regulations of the 
marketing scheme and set policy.  The administration of the Board’s policy 
was carried out by R.A. Stafford under the Board’s direction.  The office staff 
consisted of Mrs. Marion Renner and Mrs. Joliffe who complied records of 
chick placements, market quota, transport orders and assessment returns.  

In 1968 the Board began to collect and tabulate the Health of Animals 
condemnation figures from the main registered processing plants, to better 
assess the current disease picture of the broiler industry.  

One of the main accomplishments of 1968 was the establishment of a firm 
wholesale price, which gave stability to all segments of the industry.  

1969 was the most successful year since the inception of the Board in 1961.  
Chick placements reached an all time high of nearly 14 million (16% increase).  
Continual changes occurred on farm such as automated, environmental 
controlled buildings which increased efficiency and made it possible to 
withstand temporary periods of depressed prices.  1969 marked the year of 
establishment of a 7% tolerance.  1969 also marked the development of the 
junior size broiler program, to provide lighter uniform weight of broilers for the 
take-out chicken trade.  The introduction of the Revised Marketing Contract 
No.1 in December of 1969 defined the agreement between hatchery, grower 
and processor so that all parties to the contract had a better understanding of 
the marketing of the regulated product.  The live price averaged 22.3 cents 
per pound for the year 1969 (an increase of 0.4 cents from the previous year).  
No new marketing quota was issued by the Board.   Transfers and farm sales 
reduced the number of registered growers in the marketing plan from 146 to 
134.  

The Provincial Cabinet by order in council officially declared the month of May 
as “Chicken Month” in BC.  The Board concentrated its advertizing around the 
theme “Observe Chicken Month, take home a chicken for someone you love” 
along with continuing the BBQ Barbie in-store promotions.  This campaign was 
cancelled after three weeks in the greater Vancouver area, due to the closing of 
103 super markets (red meat cutters lock-out).  Another popular theme during 
the fall and winter was “BC Chickens are fresh – they didn’t have to travel 
thousands of miles to wind up in your shopping carts”.  

Quebec is the only broiler producing province without a producer marketing 
board for broiler chickens.  
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Sales in 1970 surpassed the 42 million pound mark, an increase of 9.4%, 
placement on farms for the year were over the 16 million mark, an increase of 
18.5% for the year.  Some new developments in BC in 1970 were:
•	 Plans whereby new growers can enter the industry.  
•	 Issuing secondary quota to growers (non-transferrable except with a 

farm sale).  The amount of secondary quota was set at 5,000 birds for all 
registered growers with primary quota of 5,000 birds and over and those 
under 5,000 birds were given the amount equal to the quota they were 
holding.  

•	 Setting the broiler chick price, to ensure more stability and growth in the 
industry.  

•	 Import Order #1, a method whereby “dumping” of broiler chicken on the 
BC market was controlled.  This in turn put pressure on other provinces to 
do the same thing, and forced Quebec broilers back into their own market.  
This in turn resulted in Quebec voting in their own marketing board for 
broiler chicken.  

•	 Setting the live price on all classes of the regulated product, a long overdue 
order where each class of the regulated product is priced out separately 
according to its market conditions.  

•	 Endorsing a national plan whereas inter-
provincial movement can take place if required and 
that the agency be made up of producers only.  

The year 1971 was a good year for the sale of 
broiler chickens in BC, but not in other provinces of 
Canada.  High storage stocks continued to depress 
live and wholesale prices in all provinces.  The Federal 
Government under the Agricultural Stabilization 
Board assisted Quebec with $400,000.00 to export 
frozen whole and cut-up chicken to the Far East and 
Japanese markets.  BC continued to supply its known 
retail demand for “grown in BC” chicken and enforced 
the Board’s Import Order on outside  broiler chicken 
offered for sale in BC’s market areas without a 
permit.  The “Chicken and Egg” war was turned into a 
political debate in regard to the passage of Bill C-176, 
the National Farm Products Marketing Legislation.  
Quebec and Manitoba were the two provinces in 
Canada in 1970 whose philosophy was to expand 
their broiler chicken markets to other provinces in 
Canada.  With all broiler chicken producing provinces 
in Canada now having established Provincial Broiler 
Marketing Boards whose objects are to supply their 
respective markets, any expansion into neighbouring 
markets results in conflicts between Provincial 
Marketing Boards.  

For the first time, the BC Board published farm gate 
receipts amounting to $14,200,000.00

There was no formal agreement for national supply 
management in 1971.  All provinces entered 1972 
without control over the inter-provincial movement 
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of broiler chickens under a national plan.  The progress towards reaching 
an amiable agreement for a National Chicken  Marketing Plan during 1972 
was termed “frustrating”.  Each province demonstrated that its share of the 
national total is not adequate, with the ensuing result that realistic provincial 
quotas cannot be established.  1972 ended without any firm commitment by 
the provinces for the establishment of a National Plan.  BC was adamant that 
future quota allocations must be allotted to the provinces that develop and 
expand their own provincial markets.  

In 1972 the following policies were implemented:
•	 All allotted quotas to registered growers were assigned to specific farms.  
•	 In September 1972 the establishment of uniform terms and conditions for 

the sale of live product was established.  
•	 November 30, 1972 roaster quota growers were eligible  on or after 

January 1, 1973 to apply to have their 4,000 bird roaster quota cancelled 
and be issued an 8,000 bird broiler quota.  

In 1972 BC again marketed the heaviest live weight broiler in the least number 
of days which also resulted in the lowest percentage of Health of Animals 
(CFIA) condemnations at the processing plants.  

The one identified area of deficiency in BC in 1972 was further processing.  It 
was acknowledged that many further processed chicken products which were 
sold in BC originated outside the province.  

1973 was a year of unstable conditions in the BC Broiler industry because 
of uncertain supplies of feed ingredients created by a strong world demand for 
cereal crops.  BC growers felt the effect of the cost-price squeeze that was on 
their broiler operations throughout the year.  In 1973 BC had 9.20% of the total 
Canadian broiler market, an increase from 8.75% for the year 1972.  

In April of 1973, the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Producers Association membership 
(41 hatching egg farms) elected to come under the jurisdiction of the BC Broiler 
Marketing Board rather than under the jurisdiction of the BC Egg Marketing 
Board.  The hatching egg farms had the capacity to supply the total hatching 
egg requirements for the BC industry.  

18 new entrant growers were brought into the industry in 1973.  15 roaster 
growers applied to have their roaster quotas cancelled and were granted 8,000 
broiler quota.  These new broiler growers had their roaster quotas replaced by 
the new growers who will receive roaster permits in early 1974.  

In December 1973 all provinces with the exception of BC and Quebec voted in 
favour of holding National hearings on the proposed National Chicken Plan.  BC 
was opposed to the plan for the following reasons:
•	 The chicken agency would have the power to buy, sell or store surplus 

chicken.
•	 There is no provision in allotting provincial quotas for the growth that 

occurs within a province.
•	 There is not an adequate definition on how chicken can be moved inter-

provincially.  

The Canadian Broiler Council decided to not hold public hearings until Quebec 
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can be accommodated within the Plan since they produce approximately 37% 
of Canada’s total broiler market.  A tentative agreement was reached with 
Quebec.  The Farm Products Marketing Council announced the new principles 
of the Canadian Chicken Marketing Agency as:

•	 “Free Trade” – the marketing of chickens from one province to another 
shall not be subject to restrictions by the importing province.  

•	 “Principle of Self-sufficiency” – the Plan does not embrace the “principle 
of self sufficiency” in broiler production in various provinces because of 
the intent to establish a national chicken marketing plan.  The market 
shares that are to be decided upon; therefore, should not be based upon 
the goal of self-sufficiency.  

As such the BC Board could not commit the broiler growers of BC to an 
expensive bureaucracy, which would add additional costs to the industry, and 
would also keep BC’s industry in a surplus position at all times.  

In 1973 the Board was ordered by the provincial Minister of Agriculture to 
establish the broiler industry in the Kamloops-Okanagan area in the most 
feasible way possible.  The policy presented to Hon. David Stupich on December 
12, 1973 called for an initial allotment of 5,000 broiler permits to eleven new 
growers in the area. In concurrence with the start-up of a new processing 
plant.  
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Record high prices for nearly all of the broiler grower’s inputs, higher wages 
rates at the processing, distributing and retailing segments resulted in the final 
price of BC product to the consumer being higher during 1974 than many of 
the red meat cuts.  Across Canada, all broiler producing provinces experienced 
similar marketing conditions and problems.  

The rapid retail food price increases experienced by all commodities during 
1974 resulted in a consumer oriented backlash to all farmers in general and 
commodity marketing boards in particular.  The Prices Review Board and the 
Forbes report came out strongly against farmer controlled marketing agencies.  
The news media during 1974 focussed on food price changes and created 
all kinds of controversy regarding the primary producers’ position in today’s 
society.  This experience taught the Board that it needed to be able to explain its 
purpose and the contributions made to society in the fast changing economy.  

Tied with the consumer’s role was the BC Government’s New Natural Products 
Marketing Act, which provided for the BC Marketing Board, made up of 
5 members, who have the power to supervise operations of all commodity 
marketing boards in the province.  The new Board’s supervisory function was 
directed to orders, regulations, and general marketing policies of commodity 
boards, and not to their day to day routine operations.  In addition the BCMB 
was empowered to hear appeals lodged by parties who felt they may have 
suffered injury or grievance as a direct result of a Commodity Marketing Board 
action.  

The proposal for the National Chicken Marketing Plan completed public 
hearings in May 1974, but did not meet with the approval of the Provincial 
Ministers of Agriculture in July of that year, due to the problems experienced 
by the Canadian Egg Marketing Agency related to surplus production.  The 
Canadian Broiler Council was instructed to re-draft the proposal for a National 
Chicken Marketing Agency.  BC’s input on a new plan will be a proposal to the 
CBC Executive on inter-provincial movement of chicken which is the only legal 
authority a National Agency has under the Federal Farm Products Marketing 
Agencies Act.  

In 1974 BC had 8.92% of the total Canadian Broiler Market, a decrease from 
9.20%  for the year 1973.  

One broiler grower took advantage of the Board’s Father-Son quota transfer 
policy.  There  were 264 growers of which 41 are broiler breeder production 
units and 20 are new farms established in 1974.  Eleven 8,000 broiler permits 
were issued to new growers in the Kamloops-Okanagan area of the province, 
subject to the establishment of a poultry processing plant in the area.  The 
average broiler price was 35.75 cents per pound in 1974 compared to 30.67 
cents in 1973.  Farm gate receipts totalled $27,535,850.00

1975 was another year of “no growth” in the BC broiler industry.  Total 
chicken sales were 1.3% less than sale of 1974 but the last quarter of 1975 
established a trend for increased growth as sales in this quarter were 5% 
ahead of sales for the last quarter of 1974.  In 1975 BC had 8.55% of the total 
Canadian broiler chicken meat market, a decrease from 8.92% in 1974.  

High frozen inventories during the first three quarters of 1975 required all 
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growers to experience quota cut-backs to allow these high inventories to be 
sold onto the market in an orderly manner.  The final quarter of 1975 resulted 
in the end of the recession that the BC broiler industry had been experiencing 
since the fall months of 1973.  All across Canada other broiler producing 
provinces experienced similar market conditions and problems as BC except 
for Ontario and Quebec which had to deal with 20 million pounds of US chicken 
which were sold in their market area.  As a result, the Federal Government told 
the Canadian Broiler Council that import quotas would be established on US 
chicken providing the Provinces formed a National Chicken Marketing Agency, 
based on the previous 5 year import average.  In 1975 Canada had the worst 
trade  imbalance in chicken in the free world.  

Local conditions within the industry in 1975 saw the closing of Canada Packers 
Ltd, Willows Poultry Processing Plant in Clearbrook and the subsequent 
purchase and start up of this plant by Maplewood Poultry Processors Ltd.  The 
NDP government completed the purchase of Panco Poultry Ltd in February 
1975.  No work was completed on the construction of the Provincial Government 
funded processing plant in the Kamloops-Okanagan area.  Indications were 
that further regional market surveys in that area of the province are required to 
determine the economic viability of this proposed plant in regard to the capital 
to be invested.  The Provincial Government agreed to finance 50% of the cost 
of the study.  

In an attempt to create a market for chicken backs and necks (skin and meat), 
the Board contributed $2000 to Panco Poultry to carry out a consumer market 
survey on a new product “Chickalona”. 

In 1976 the major problem stemmed from competition from low priced 
chicken being offered into BC markets.  The Board responded by implementing 
a freight equalization program  whereby all freight costs to the BC Interior on 
fresh and frozen chicken would be paid by the broiler growers, in an attempt to 
keep low priced chicken imports from eroding BC’s total market area.  

The industry completed the shift from a 12 week cycle to an 11 week cycle 
during 1976.  

1977 was a relatively good year in  volume for the BC broiler chicken 
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industry, the trend to increase BC chicken sales continued at a record rate.  A 
total of 62.3 million pounds (evisc weight) was sold in 1997 for an increase of 
4.9% from sales in 1976.  

The Board’s Import Order #1 was struck down in the Supreme Court of BC.  
It was ruled ultra-vires of the competence of the powers of the Provincial 
Government and therefore the Broiler Board and was declared invalid.  

The Board of the day expected the Federal Government to proclaim the Canadian 
Chicken Marketing Agency (CCMA) and import quotas on the US chicken under 
the GATT agreement.  This did not come to pass as opposition to the National 
Chicken Agency continued to delay the proclamation.  

The Board in co-operation with the BC Feed Companies and BC Poultry 
Processors developed “The Great BC Chicken Caper”.  With the introduction of 
this promotion, the Board reduced the Interior freight promotion from rebating 
the full cost of all fresh and frozen BC chicken shipped north and east of Hope 
BC to 3 cents per pound, with the understanding that the freight program will 
be eliminated in 1978 if stability could be introduced to the total Canadian 
Chicken Market.  

The year 1978 was an exceptionally good growth year for all segments of 
the BC Broiler Industry.  BC registered the largest percentage increase in broiler 
chicken marketing in 1978 compared to all other broiler producing provinces.   
Early in 1978 US chicken imports and imports from other Canadian provinces 
at prices up to 15 cents a pound below established wholesale prices for BC 
chicken, completely depressed the local market.  

In February 1978 the Board, feed companies, processors and major retailers 
met with the Hon. Jim Hewitt, Minister of Agriculture, to develop stability in 
the BC broiler industry.  The BC Broiler Industry Committee was formed to 
provide  for better market communications and to include retailers who, as the 
merchandisers of the growers’ production efforts, have done an excellent job 
in telling the BC Consumer the benefits of purchasing “Home Grown BC Quality 
Chicken”.  

In June 1978 the Board appointed an audit committee to ensure accurate 
reporting of all Board finances.  The Board established a Roaster Research 
Program to improve the quality of roasting chickens being marketed in BC.  
The Provincial Government announced its intention to sell Panco Poultry 
Ltd.  There was a shortage of hatching eggs in BC during the year so the 
Board implemented an experimental moulting program which proved that the 
immediate hatching egg supply for surge demand could be increased with an 
intensive well planned moulting program.  

The Canadian Chicken Marketing Agency (CCMA) was proclaimed by the Hon. 
Eugene Whalen on December 29, 1978 thereby bringing US chicken imports 
under control.  The agency is under the supervision of the National Farm 
Products Marketing Council and will set Provincial chicken production quotas.  
It would also develop a cost of production formula which will be used to guide 
the pricing practices of provincial chicken marketing boards.  The Department 
of Industry, Trade and Commerce was to establish  an annual chicken import 
quota on the basis of consultations with the USA.  Newfoundland was expected 
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to join the Agency within 1 year, while Alberta did not wish to join, but agreed 
to co-operate fully with it and Manitoba was expected to join early in 1979.  At 
this point the Agency represented 92.6% of the Canadian chicken production 
and 95% of the Nation’s growers.  

The Great Chicken Caper was the longest running contest in the history of 
retail contests, but in spite of its length, awareness was at a high level when 
it was concluded.  Over 210,000 individual letters were received as contest 
entry forms.  TV’s, Microwave Ovens, Dishwashers, a trip for two to Hawaii, gas 
BBQ’s and one Caribbean Cruise for two were prizes.  

Extensive amendments to the General Orders were published in the 1978 
Annual Report covering definitions, leasing of quota, leasing of property, density 
requirements and quota transfer restrictions.  Quota was tied to premises as 
described on a grower’s licence.  

Total BC chicken sales in 1979 were 86.4 million pounds eviscerate weight 
for an increase of 15 million pounds, representing 21% increase in sales over 
1978, the largest annual increase since the Board was formed in 1961.  

Colonial Farms Ltd located in Armstrong BC, the new poultry processing 
plant became operational in April of 1979.  5 growers were established in 
the North Okanagan to supply approximately 10,000 live birds each week.  
The establishment of the regional plant permitted a greater portion of the BC 
market to be served by local growers.  

One condition of the Federal Government establishing the US chicken import 
quota, was that the Chicken Agency implement Canada’s Global Quota and 
Provincial poundage allocations.  The Board of the day decided the most fair 
and equitable method to allot BC provincial poundage was to establish each 
grower’s share on a live weight poundage basis.  Effective May 23, 1979 
the BC Broiler Industry shifted to a live weight poundage basis quota.  The 
conversion factor was 1 bird quota converted to 4.05 live weight poundage 
actually paid for by processors. The changeover was calculated to result in an 
approximately 7% increase in the total live weight poundage actually shipped 
from the previous bird quota.  All provinces in the CCMA are based on this 
method as the Federal Provincial legal agreement calls for uniform terms and 
conditions for a poundage quota system.  

Bruce McAninch was appointed as the first BC Director on the National Agency.  
He was also named to the CCMA regulations committee.  

The Province of BC with the Broiler Board, Supervisory Board and Hon Jim 
Hewitt, Minister of Agriculture gave notice to the CCMA that unless the following 
issues were resolved, BC would not be a member after 1980:

•	 The review and amendment of the 1980 quota regulation dealing with 
global quota and provincial shares.

•	 The interpretation of the criteria to be considered by the CCMA in 
establishing Global and Provincial quota allocations.

•	 The methods and procedures to be followed by the CCMA in establishing 
quota allocations and issuing quotas for unregulated areas (Alberta).

•	 The requirements for the  obtaining  of information and the issuing of 
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licences and orders required to be made by the CCMA to monitor inter-
provincial trade in chicken.  

The farm gate receipts for 1979 for all classes of the regulated product totalled 
$49,481,000.00

Three of the Poultry Processing Plants introduced fresh “Chill-pack” forms of 
packaging, which is the use of CO2 rather than ice in the containers.  This 
process was predicted to extend the shelf life of fresh chicken in the retail 
display counter and tied in with the “chill-pack” process, Canada Safeway 
changed over their merchandising from a frozen to a fresh chicken program.  

BC’s annual quota allocation from the National Agency in 1980 was 
88,249,000 pounds (evisc weight) or 10.77% of the Global quota, but due 
to surplus frozen chicken inventory carry over from 1979, BC’s 1980 total 
production was only 79,964,000 lbs. resulting in a shortfall of 8.3 million lbs. 
or 10.3% of BC’s allocation which could not be carried forward into the 1981 
quota year.  

The CCMA made good progress during 1980 and dealt with the main issues 
of:  formulating a system for allocating over base chicken quota among 
provinces; the problems created by imports of US chicken on a quarterly basis; 
the problem of high quota values; and the need for greater grower-processor 
co-operation in coping with surplus stocks.  Alberta (an unregulated area) 
continued to ignore Agency Regulations respecting inter-provincial movement 
of chicken to BC’s detriment.  The Agency had the authority to  fine the persons 
or get an injunction preventing shipments from Alberta to BC, but chose not to 
proceed with action.  

Bruce McAninch was elected as CCMA Chair in 1980, and also assumed the 
duties of acting General Manager until a new CCMA General Manager could be 
hired.  In 1980 Newfoundland became the 9th province to join as a member 
of the CCMA, Alberta had not made any effort to become a member and the 
possibility of them joining remained remote.  

During 1980 the BC Board established an incentive program to relocate more 
production from the Fraser Valley to the Okanagan region of the province.  It 
was restricted to 7 roaster growers  on a first come first serve basis.  The 
roaster quota was converted to broiler quota on a pound for pound basis.  The 
Interior was on a 9 week cycle, growing 100% of  all broiler, secondary and 
Class B quota.  Colonial Farms paid a premium  for the product (1/2 cent from 
January to June 30th and 1 cent from July 1st onwards).  

The Board implemented a new pricing policy for Vancouver Island, effective 
July 14th live price for all classes of the regulated product were established at 
½ cent higher than all other regions of the province and increased to a full cent 
effective December 1, 1980.  

The name of the BC Broiler Marketing Board was changed to BC Chicken 
Marketing Board, by Scheme change November 25, 1980.  Further, the BCCMB 
increased from 3 to 5 members, of whom 3 are broiler growers, one a breeder 
grower and one a roaster grower all elected for 3 year terms.  No grower could 
server longer than six consecutive years, but may be re-elected for further 
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terms after the expiration of one year out of office.  

The 1980 Annual report was the first to contain the appeal procedures to the 
BC Marketing Board.  It has appeared every year thereafter.  

The year 1981 was another record breaking year for the BC Chicken 
industry in terms of higher farm gate prices and production volumes.  BC in 
its enthusiasm to meet the 1981 Provincial Quota Allocation of 87,262,000 
lbs (eviscerated weight) over produced by 1,930,000 lbs and will be assessed 
a national penalty of 5 cents/lb for a cost of $52,900.00.  The provinces of 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Ontario also over produced.  Alberta (unregulated 
area) not a member of the Agency, is issued a quota for marketing into a 
regulated area, which was overproduced by 10 million lbs in 1981.  

The BC Broiler Inquiry Committee report to the Board concluded that additional 
roaster quota should be issued to roaster growers as compared to roaster 
growers who had their quotas converted to broiler quotas prior to September 
1978.  Roaster growers registered on or before September 1, 1978 were 
granted a quota increase of 12,187 lbs of roaster quota and issued 11,427 
lbs of roaster secondary or portion thereof (dependant on building space being 
provided by June 15, 1981).  The BC Cornish market was being completely 
supplied by Alberta in 1981, so to enable BC Processors to be competitive in 
this market, the Board created a policy to allow for any BC grower to grow 
Cornish on a permit outside of quota, and further, the Board lowered the 
Cornish price to the same level as the broiler price.  

Seven roaster quotas were relocated as broiler quota to establish new farms 
in the North Okanagan, and two existing broiler farms were also relocated 
to bring the total to 14 broiler growers, with sufficient production to supply 
Colonial Farms processing plant’s live chicken requirements for 1982.  



83

BC Processors appeal the live price increase of 1 cents/lb to the Supervisory 
Board; the BCMB upheld the pricing decision of the Chicken Board.  

The CCMA approved the Price-Waterhouse provincial COP.  The Board accepted 
and approved the parallel COP for BC Hatching Eggs, which was developed on 
a parity price relationship between live broiler, roaster and hatching eggs using 
the concept of percentage return on invested capital in the respective farms.  

Panco Poultry Cargill Company Ltd announced in September that its processing 
and hatching facilities were for sale, and if no buyer was found, all operation s 
would cease by February 1, 1982.  This would result in the loss of 27% of BC’s 
processing and hatching capacity.  In an effort to ensure sufficient processing 
and hatching capacity the Board loaned $250,000 to Wm. Scott Poultry Co-
Operative to purchase automated evisceration equipment to process an 
additional 100,000 head per week.  The loan (at prime) was due May 1, 1982 
and was repaid with interest at prime rate.  

1982 saw the closing of Panco Poultry Chicken Processing and hatching 
facilities.  The Board entered into legal agreements with Centennial and Horizon 
Hatcheries to assume Pacific Cargill’s hatching egg contracts for flocks being 
raised in 1982, providing for the Board to undertake to dispose of any surplus 
eggs from these flocks up to May 1983.  The downturn in the 1982 chicken 
market resulted in 17% less hatching eggs being required and surplus eggs 
from the assumed Panco Cargill flocks, which had to go to the egg breakers.  
The costs for egg breaking and early flock slaughter were recovered from the 
special breeder fund.  

The Board now represents three sectors of the BC Chicken industry, producers 
of broilers and roasters, and the producers of hatching eggs.  The price for 
live chicken is set by negotiation with the chicken processors, based on the 
established cost of production (COP) formula and market conditions.  The price 
of hatching eggs are set by a COP formula, but virtually all of the production 
of hatching egg farms is sold to the broiler and roaster farms after eggs are 
hatched at hatcheries. 

In 1982 conversion was undertaken to the Metric system.  

Chicken City, White Spot Limited, sold their chicken processing facilities 
to Sunrise Poultry Processors Ltd in May 1, 1983.  Mr. Peter Shoore as the 
owner and General Manager aggressively expanded by catering to the 9-cut 
restaurant market and the fresh chicken volume at the retail chain stores.  
Later in 1983 Sunrise Poultry entered into processing and wholesaling fresh 
BC roasting chickens on a weekly basis.  

Okanagan Hatchery Ltd, Armstrong BC, started setting eggs and hatching 
chicks in April 1983 to supply the growers in the Okanagan region.  Breeder 
quota from the Fraser Valley was relocated to the Interior to establish two 
breeder farms to supply Okanagan Hatchery’s hatching egg requirements.  

In 1982 the Canadian Broiler Hatching Egg Producers Association submitted a 
plan to the National Farm Products Council for the establishment of a National 
Agency for hatching eggs under the National Farm Products Marketing 
Agencies Act.  
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In 1982 the BC Chicken Growers Association in conjunction with the BC Ministry 
of Agriculture developed a Chicken Health program.  The Board entered into a 
contract with the BC Ministry of Agriculture for sharing the cost of the Chicken 
Health Program.  The term of the contract was for one year effective July 29, 
1983 unless extended by mutual agreement.  The Board’s responsibilities 
were to prove the cost of converting space in the Poultry Test Station from an 
incubator’s hatchery to a microbiological laboratory, as well as employ and 
pay the salaries and fringe benefits of 2-full time technicians to work in the 
microbiological laboratory at the Test Station.  

The BC chicken market, during 1983 continued to change to an almost 
100% fresh sales, as major retailers, due to competition, are reflecting the 
BC consumer’s preferences.  The Board, in discussions with BC Processors, 
decided not to assist the local industry in meeting the low priced frozen chicken 
offerings from outside the province.  The establishment of more competitive BC 
live and wholesale prices permitted the Board to reduce the advertising and 
promotion expenditures for the year.  The reduced advertising expenditure was 
reflected by a reduction in the Board levy from 1 cent a pound to ½ cent per 
pound live weight.  

In May 1983, Arne Mykle was elected 1st Vice Chair of the Canadian Chicken 
Marketing Agency (CCMA).  

1984 was another record breaking year for the British Columbia Chicken 
industry.  Production increased by 10.7% and grower prices reflected good 
margins after all input costs.  The 1984 Provincial quota was established at 
41,652,000 kgs (eviscerated weight).  The broiler cycle was reduced from 77 
days to 75 days and the roaster cycle from 105 days to 102 days.  One cycle 
of Class B and Class R quota was allotted in 1984.  The BC industry to improve 
efficiency, reduced the broiler cycle to 70 days and the roaster cycle to 95 days 
effective with placements on farms November 18, 1984.  The trend for shorter 
cycles was evident in all broiler producing provinces as heavier live weights 
were being experienced with a shorter growing time.  

Final production in BC for 1984 was 41,120,000 kg (eviscerated weight), for a 
utilization of 101.12% of the 1984 quota.  A monetary penalty was assessed to 
the Board by the CCMA in the amount of $12,929.75.  Individual growers who 
over produced their allotted quota in 1984 were not assessed the monetary 
penalty by the Board.  The Board applied the monetary penalty to individual 
growers in 1985, allowing 3-cycles for growers to correct under and over 
production.  

The Board entered into a Cornish program with Colonial Farms and Scott’s 
Poultry to permit growers to raise Cornish on permit, outside their quota 
allocations.  In analyzing Cornish production it was determined that local 
Cornish could not compete with imports from Manitoba and Alberta and the 
Cornish program was discontinued for 1985.

The regular broiler live price average was $1.1908 per kilogram live weight in 
1984 compared to $1.1142 per kilogram live weight in 1983, an increase of 
6.8%

In 1985 BC again shortened the cycle lengths for both broilers (now 68 days) 
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and roasters (now 93 days).  This was again revised downwards on October 
28, 1985 to 63 days for broilers and 86 days for roasters to meet the required 
increase in 1986 production.  BC was short of product to meet its emerging 
markets.  

BC received an additional allocation of 1.6 million kilograms for the Expo 86 
demand.  

Sunrise Poultry Processors in December 1985 reported to the Board 
unauthorized production that occurred between June and November 1985 
totalling 1,027,299 kg live weight. The Board assessed a monetary penalty of 
18.25 cents per kilogram live weight (for a total of $187,469.26).  The 1985 
unauthorized production was to be cut-back to ½ in 1986 and ½ in 1987 as not 
to disrupt the orderly marketing of chicken for the BC market through the peak 
summer demands and the Expo 1986 period.  

In 1985 BC was assessed a monetary penalty of $179,474.50 by the CCMA 
on 1,159,697 kg of over production, with a cutback to occur in BC’s quota 
allocation ½ in 1986 and ½ in 1987.  

In March 1985 Arne Mykle was elected Chairman of CFC.  

1986 was the “Silver Anniversary” of the BC Chicken Board, which had been 
in existence for 25 years.  Total sales of BC chicken topped 49 million kilograms 
eviscerated.  There were 228 growers in BC (186 in the Lower Mainland, 22 
on Vancouver Island and 20 in the Interior region).  The regular broiler price 
average for 1986 was $1.1062 in 1986 compared to $1.1515 per kilogram 
in 1985 a decrease of 4.1 %.  The farm gate receipts from live prices for all 
classes of the regulated product sold in 1986 in BC was $74,602,000.00

In January 1986, Wm Scott and Co, BC’s oldest poultry processor (established 
in 1905) was sold to Lilydale Poultry Cooperative of Alberta.  The sale included 
the Port Coquitlam processing plant and Victoria processing Plant as well as 
Centennial Hatchery in Aldergrove.  Two years prior, in 1984, Lilydale had 
purchased the Pan-Ready Poultry turkey processing plant in Abbotsford.  

In 1986 the Board approved an annual audit plan for grower live chicken 
shipments to all BC chicken Processors.  The audits were conducted by CCMA 
auditors under a cost sharing system.  

The CCMA reduced their portion of the levy from 0.2816 cents/kg down to 
0.2100 cents/kg live weight, due to a budget surplus.  The Board levy remained 
at 1.1 cents/kg live weight.  

In September of 1986 the Board converted all secondary and roaster quota 
to primary quota and effective January 1, 1987 each registered grower who 
had not previously transferred a portion of their quota was eligible for a new 
secondary quota.  Broiler growers received 9,185 kg of secondary quota and 
roaster growers received 12,519 kg of roaster secondary quota.  The new 
secondary quotas were tied to the grower’s premise and were only transferrable 
in the event of a farm sale.  

The Board for the year 1987, on a trial basis to provide flexibility to the BC 
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Chicken Processors, permitted growers who have under produced after 3 
cycles, to lease out their under production.  The Board expects flexibility from 
growers to fill gaps in a processing plant’s slaughter if required to meet fresh 
chicken sales.  

1987 saw the continued growth in chicken production in BC in the record 
amount of an 11% increase over the previous year.  At the retail level, depending 
on the time of year, whole frying chickens were featured between 78 cents and 
89 cents per pound as consumers again received an excellent value for their 
food dollars.  

BC was denied additional quota for 1987 by the CCMA, putting BC in a severe 
over production penalty situation in the amount of $630,061.00 (2,250,244 x 
25 cents/kg).  BC retained legal counsel to challenge the validity of the CCMA’s 
1987 assessment of BC’s monetary penalty.  

The Board effective with placements on farms May 25, 1987 increased the per 
bird quota weight as follows:
I. All broiler quota, secondary quota and broiler permits were revised on the 

basis of one quota bird equals 1.929 kg live weight, at 0.75 square foot; 
this will be adjusted to 2.57 kg live weight of quota at 1 square foot of 
building space.  

II. All roaster quota, and roaster secondary quota was revised on the basis of 
one quota bird equals 3.81 kg live weight, at 1.48 square foot, this will be 
adjusted to 2.57 kg live weight of quota at 1 square foot of building space.  

III. Maximum quota is 135,024 kg live weight for a registered grower per 
cycle.

IV. Minimum quota is 19, 290 kg live weight for a registered grower per cycle.  

It was estimated that the higher bird weight added approximately 1.3 million 
kgs (eviscerated weight) to BC’s chicken production in 1987, the 5% increase 
in density in the live weight per square  foot of building space is a continuation 
of the long standing progressive program of the BCCMB whereby it improves 
the efficiency of chicken production in BC.  The improvement in industry 
performance keeps it abreast of developments elsewhere in Canada, and 
thereby enhances its competitive position.  

The Board, after 25 years of cooperation, decided to amend and update the 
General Orders to cover a number of loop-holes.  The update was competed 
August 1, 1987.  The results of processor audits show all live regulated product 
shipments were being reported to the Board.  

The Hon. John Savage, Minister of Agriculture and Fisheries informed the Board 
that the Provincial Government will be reviewing all quota policies so that the 
value of quota will not become a hindrance to growth and development and 
that new market opportunities can be effectively addressed.  

In March 1987 the BC Hatching Egg Producers Association met with the 
Ministry of Agriculture to investigate the formation of a Broiler Hatching Egg 
Commission.  The Chicken Board indicated to the BC Minister of Agriculture 
that it had endorsed the creation of the Broiler Hatching Egg Scheme as it felt 
such a scheme would be beneficial to the Chicken Industry.  On October 27, 
1998 the BC Hatching Egg Producers were granted their own Scheme, with the 
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formation of the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Commission by the BC Government.  

In 1988 with the establishment of the BCBHEC, the Broiler Breeder position 
on the Board was filled by a broiler grower.  

The strong consumer demand for chicken in BC during 1988 continued and 
intensified BC’s quota allocation dispute with CCMA.  In January a further 
request for special consideration was refused resulting in BC appealing to 
the National Farm Products Marketing Council.  An attempt at a mediated 
settlement between CCMA and BCCMB legal counsel failed.  BC maintained 
the position that CCMA had no flexibility in the quota allocation process and the 
Board was forced to state BC cannot be left to move from one ad hoc crisis to 
another.  On December 19, 1988 the BCCMB, with the concurrence of the BC 
Minister of Agriculture and the BCMB gave notice to the Agency to withdraw 
from the National Chicken Plan.  

BC was assessed an over marketing penalty for 1988 of $774,094.00 by the 
CCMA.  

From 1989 and forward into the 1990’s the BC Chicken Industry continued 
to look for higher production as the potential for further processed chicken 
products is an untapped market at this time.  BC Chicken Growers and 
Processors, as well as allied industry, have a great potential for expansion 
in this new chicken market. The BC chicken segment is the premier growth 
industry in BC agriculture.  The Board’s policy on future growth is that there 
is uniform Quota allocation to each region of the Province as BC Processors 
compete for the available live chicken supply as one market. The Board, in 
calculating the uniform growth into the 1990’s for each region, must also 
take into consideration and work towards a one live price system as being 
appropriate for the province if all regions are to remain competitive.  

The Board during 1989, continued negotiations with the Canadian Chicken 
Marketing Agency in regard to the 1989 monetary penalty initially assessed at 
$779,930.75.  A settlement was reached in May 1989, whereby the Agency 
agreed to add an additional 3 million kilograms to BC’s 1988 Quota, thereby 
reducing BC’s monetary penalty to $12,425.00 and an over production cut 
back if 634,342 kilograms eviscerate weight (delayed until the 1990 Quota 
year).  The Board, in May, took the position that BC was no longer a member of 
the Agency effective December 31, 1988; therefore, the 1989 Quota allocation 
issue and beyond was not solved during the year.  The Board did not pay levies 
($364,342) to the Agency, however did attend CFC meetings when invited 
as observers at the Board’s own expense and abstained from voting on any 
Agency decisions.   

In 1989 new secondary quota was issued effective April 17, 1989; the Board 
rolled all secondary quota to broiler quota, and registered growers who were 
eligible, were granted 9,644 kg new secondary quota or 13,145 kg new 
roaster secondary quota providing the required building space was in place 
by December 31, 1989.  The maximum quota size was increased from 70,000 
(135,030 kg) birds to 100,000 birds (192,900 kg)

A new Grower policy was implemented via lottery for 20 successful applicants 
who were eligible to acquire 5,000 birds (9644 broiler kg) from the Board for a 
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registration fee of $75,000, in addition 5,000 birds (9,644 kg) secondary quota 
were issued to each new grower.  The regional distribution of new farms was 
2 in the Interior, 2 on Vancouver Island and 16 in the Lower Mainland.  The 
successful applicants had until August 1, 1990 to satisfy the Board that they 
have acquired a farm suitable for the production of the allotted quotas.  

In 1989 the roaster cycle was changed from 86 days to 63 days (set at the 
same length as the broiler cycle). Roaster growers had their quotas stated on 
a 63 day cycle on their 1990 licences.  Roaster growers continued to produce 
roasting chickens on a longer cycle, but their production forms were calculated 
on a 63 day cycle making the necessary adjustments for a longer cycle.  
This was a move to provide more equity between roaster and broiler quota 
production levels.  

The Board on September 1, 1989 suspended the leasing policy until February 
1990.  In the interim industry was to provide input to improve the current 
leasing policy.  

The Board entered into a 24 month contract (effective November 6, 1989) 
to provide 5,000 cockerels and 5,000 pullets each week to Western Protein 
Foods Ltd of Langley.  Each registered grower was issued a 5,000 bird further 
processed permit during the length of the contract.  The permit was in addition 
to the regular quota system and was designed solely for the expanding further 
processed chicken manufacturing market.  

The Free Trade Agreement came into effect January 1, 1989, and the negative 
effect on the Chicken Industry was that duty was reduced from 12.5% to 
11.5% on imported chicken and the US import Quota was expanded from 6.3% 
(32 M kgs) to 7.5% (40 M kgs). The 17 1/2% duty on named further processed 
chicken products that are not on the import control list, was phased out in 10 
equal steps starting on January 1, 1989.  

The year 1990 was another record breaking year for the BC Chicken  
Industry, preliminary chicken production figures at 70.1 M kgs (eviscerated 
weight) resulted in an excellent growth of 11.2% over the production of 62.4 M 
kgs (eviscerated weight) in 1989 and 20.6% higher than 1988.  Market place 
and processors indications were that 1990 production met known chicken 
demand.  The large increases in BC chicken over the previous 5 years peaked 
in 1990 and would level off in 1991, with a normal growth increase of 1-2%.  

Effective January 1, 1990 BC was no longer a signatory to the National Chicken 
Marketing Plan.  It was decided by the Board that it was in the best interest of 
the BC chicken industry to support the maintenance of the CCMA and looked 
at various options in cooperation with CCMA to ensure that BC conforms to the 
goals and objectives of the National Supply Management Program.  The CCMA 
on May 31, 1990 settled all monetary claims and other outstanding issues 
when the Board agreed to pay the following:  
•	 The 1989 levy in the amount of $367, 964.00
•	 The final payment of the 1987 monetary penalty of $213,000.00 due July 

1990.
•	 A fee of 0.5 cents per kilogram live weight for all chicken marketed in 

BC commencing May 1, 1990 and continuing until December 31, 1991 
(estimated at $800,000.00)
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During 1990 the Board implemented the following quota policy changes:

Spot Market Supply Program:  supply 50,000 birds/week to Island Poultry 
Farms Processing Plant.  A lease fee of 30 cents/1,929 kg live weight of 
broiler marketed was charged by the Board.  The program terminated with 
the receivership and closing of the plant July 26, 1990.  A portion of the lease 
fee collected was used by the Board to reimburse 9 growers who received 
NSF cheques for their live chicken shipments just prior to receivership.  The 
growers attempted to claim the $100,000 security bond on behalf of the Board 
which was posted by Island Poultry.

The leasing policy was revised on January 1, 1990.  Under the new 
program growers under produced for 3 consecutive cycles had to give 
up their underproduction to the Board for a fee of 30 cents/1.929 kg.  The 
underproduction acquired by the Board was leased by the Board at a quarterly 
hatchery meeting.  

The Board implemented a Niche Market – Specialty Chicken Supply Program, 
with the issuance of permits of a maximum of 1000 birds/week at a lease rate 
of 30 cents/1.929 kg live weight.  Permit holders were required to obtain a 
sponsor who was responsible for any over marketings.  

On September 14, 1990 the Board cancelled the Western Protein Foods Pilot 
Program, as the user JD Sweid could not reach an agreement with the BC 
Processors to slaughter and de-bone the permit birds according to their 
specifications.  

In 1990, the Board approved a request for 8,000 cornish per week to fill the 
fresh market demand.  This was done in the form of a permit to registered 
growers (30% of the live weight from the grower’s quota, 70% in the form of 
a permit).  

BC Marketed a 12.81% share of Canada’s chicken production in 1991 
compared to our 1990 share of 12.60%.  Canada’s chicken production peaked 
in 1989 and has since been declining, whereas BC’s chicken production 
continues on an upward trend line.  Due to record high levels of frozen chicken 
inventories in Central Canada, and Quebec offerings of both fresh and frozen 
chicken delivered to Vancouver far below the BC processors wholesale price; 
the Board in cooperation with the BC Processors developed a rebate program 
which enabled BC processors on a spot basis to meet the low priced out-of 
–province chicken offerings to BC retail buyers.  Agreement within the industry 
was that the most effective way of meeting these distressed chicken offerings 
was with the rebate program rather than lowering the current live price in 
the short term.  In September, the BC live price decreased 4.40 cents/kg in 
response to the Ontario Tribunal Pricing situation.   The rebate program was 
successful in maintaining chicken prices and volumes for the year, but resulted 
in a Board budgetary deficit of over $900,000 in 1991.  

The Board continued to support the CCMA with the payment of voluntary levies 
of 0.005 cents/kg live weight for the year.  The BC Board and Agency could not 
agree on BC’s 1991 quota as the Alberta delegates felt the BC quota was too 
high and hence there was no contract for BC’s 1991 production level.  



90

The Pilot Program at Western Protein was terminated December 16, 1991.  The 
Primary Processors requested the cancellation as legs and wings from the permit 
were being sold on the fresh market.  Western Protein decided to contract from 
the weekly allocated quota.  

In 1992 BC Processors approached the Hon. Bill Barlee (Agriculture Minister) 
with a brief requesting a Pricing Tribunal be established by the BC Government, 
along the lines of the Ontario Pricing Tribunal.  Instead the Board’s long standing 
pricing policy was developed from the following criteria:
I. The COP is used as a guide but feed price changes are the main costs that 

affect the live price.  
II. Live prices in effect in neighbouring provinces
III. Current  and future production levels in BC and other Provinces.  
IV. Canadian frozen chicken inventory levels.
V. General Market conditions for fresh chicken at the wholesale and retail 

levels.  

The Board with the agreement of the BC Processors incorporated into its pricing 
policy the adjusting of the live price up or down in relation to baby chick prices in 
response to the COP formula for the pricing of hatching eggs.  

The Board again this year made attempts to fine tune the rules for individual 
growers to adhere to the 7 cycle lengths and quota levels for each cycle.  The 
hatcheries and growers listened and the 1992 summer peak production achieved 
the highest level on record; although growers continue to be tempted to place 
production according to the available building space  rather than the Board’s 6 
cycle quota allocations.  

The issue of vertical integration by Corporations versus the traditional family 
farm was reviewed in April by the Board.  The industry was notified of the strict 
enforcement of the General Orders regarding the prohibition of financing of quota 
and farms by a Feed Company, Processor, Hatchery or any person who represents 
or has any financial interests in the chicken industry, or trade allied to chicken 
production.  For the balance of 1992 it can be confirmed that all segments of the 
industry have responded with good cooperation since the Board started enforcing 
these prohibitions and allied financing of quota and farms has ceased.  

The Board in October issued another 5,000 bird secondary quota  to all growers 
registered with the Board who had not transferred a portion of quota on October 
1, 1992 with the provision that space be provided by April 5, 1993.  The secondary 
quota issued prior to October 1, 1992 was rolled into primary quota.  Maximum 
farm size increased by 5000 birds to a total of 105,000 birds (292,644 kgs).  
The Board  completed the New Entrant Program by offering the two remaining 
successful reserve applicants quota.  

The Board in consultation with CCMA agreed to a contract for 1993 – BC agreed 
to set an annual quota of 81 M kilograms Eviscerated weight; pay a levy of ½ cent 
a kilogram live weight, be subject to the CCMA annual penalty on production with 
a 1% sleeve, post a security bond in the amount of $276,923 and attend CCMA 
meetings as non-voting members  with 2 expenses paid.  

The Board’s deficit at the start of the year was turned around to a year ending 
surplus.  
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In 1993, Art Stafford, the General Manager of the BCCMB celebrated 25 
years as secretary-manager.  

The Board completed the agreement with the CCMA to adhere to an annual 
quota of 81 million kilograms eviscerated weight and after a 1% sleeve a 
monetary penalty of 50 cents/kilogram assessment.  During the 6 quota periods, 
the individual provinces received increases in quotas due to the increased 
chicken demand.  The BC Board at the July 1993 CCMA meeting requested an 
additional 1.4 million kilograms to its 1993 base annual quota, the request was 
denied.  The Board, in conjunction with  the BC processors, made the decision 
to meet the strong BC chicken demand and over-produce the Agency quota  
allocation.  The CCMA 1993 monetary penalty was estimated at $1.26 million 
dollars.  The BC Board is confident that only 10% of the monetary penalty 
will be payable as the Agency had made the decision to asses their member 
provinces at the 10% level.  

As a result, BC would take a wait and see attitude in regard to the future as 
a member province of the CCMA.   Ontario at the end of 1993 gave notice to 
withdraw as a member of the CCMA because the member provinces  would not 
adopt a more market responsive quota allocation system.  

The Board, in cooperation with Shafer-Haggart Ltd, a brokerage firm in 
Vancouver, and the BC Processors developed a test BC Export Chicken 
Marketing Program.  The Board during the test period from April 1993 to 
December 1994 granted export permits to registered growers to supply up to 
100,000 birds per month to each Processor for the test export chicken market.  

A revised New Entrant Program was discussed with the BC Marketing Board 
but the program was not finalized in 1993.  The timetable for the proposed new 
grower program is to be effective April 1994.  

Since 1987 the BC Agriculture Land Commission has refused to sub-divide 
parcels of a family farm to create a second production unit.  The Board’s long 
standing quota policy is that there is only one quota allowed on a parcel of 
land, and a number of growers in the past have subdivided their farm property 
into two parcels of land and acquired quota to start a second family farm.  
Recently a number of family farms have received approval to sub-divide their 
farm land by their Municipality but have been refused sub-division by the Land 
Commission.  The BC Land Commission has requested the Board to develop a 
Leasehold Policy (temporary sub-division) to support the family farm concept.  
The Leasehold by explanatory plan must be for a period of net less than 10 
years and requires approval by the Agricultural Land Commission and then 
registration at the Land Titles Office.  

1994 was another record breaking year, and a 13% increase over the 
previous year.  The chicken market share war taking place between Ontario 
and Quebec had a direct effect of up to 10 cents/kilograms on  the lower 
price  of chicken at the farm gate in all Provinces. The reduced grower returns 
continued in to 1995 and indications point to a trend that the lower grower 
returns may be part of the new reality of the rationalization taking place in the 
Canadian chicken industry.  

It was the consensus of all the stakeholders in the BC chicken industry that 
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cutting back local production would be a negative step and would allow Central 
Canada to fill that portion of our established market. 

BC paid 10% of the 1993 monetary penalty to the CCMA for a cost of 
$108,844.00; BC paid a voluntary levy of 0.04 cents/kg live weight and the 
CCMA paid expenses for two BC Directors.  

The proposed new National Allocation Pricing Agreement (NAPA) was 
implemented on a trial basis, but was not “legalized” by the draft “MOU” which 
requires each provincial Board’s signature.  The new approach was to move 
away from the historic “top Down” formula quota allocation to a “ground up” 
allocation system.  The new approach was not accepted by provinces from 
Quebec East and the draft MOU on the NAPA agreement continues to be 
debated around the CCMA Directors table.  

In 1994 the BC Chicken Growers voted 89% in favour of rejoining the CCMA, 
this overwhelming response underlying the need for all growers to work 
together in a united front to meet the challenges of the new GATT trade rules 
effective January 1, 1995. 

The Minister of Agriculture on December 9, 1994 fully supported the efforts of 
the Agency towards the development of the new quota allocation system, and 
the re-negotiation of the Federal-Provincial Agreement, thus, preventing the 
BCCMB from re-joining the Agency until an new FPA is negotiated.  

In March 1994, the Board reinstituted the JD Sweid/Hampton House Further 
Processed Chicken Permits for 20,000 birds/week.  Each registered grower 
was allotted one further processed permit of 9,644 kg during the Pilot Project.  

On April 1, 1994 the New Entrant Program provided for 23 new growers by 
lottery, 5 on Vancouver Island, 16 in the Lower Mainland, and 2 in the Interior 
Region.  Also on April 1st new secondary quota in the amount of 9.644 kg was 
issued to all registered growers who had not previously transferred quota and 
provided for the required building space before April 1, 1995.  

In June, BC Processors informed the Board that a surplus of roasting 
chickens including roaster pullets was having a very depressing effect on 
the wholesale roasting chicken prices, the weekly roasting chicken supply 
was drastically reduced by roaster growers marketing their flocks as broilers 
during the summer.  Each Processor subsequently reduced their roaster supply 
requirements, and the production of roaster pullets was dropped except for a 
limited demand for the heavy pullets Chinese Market.  

The BC processors filed an appeal against the August 28, 1994 live price 
order, as well as reducing the 3 cents/kg “bonus” to 0.74 cents/kg effectively 
offsetting the amount of the live price increase.  The Board and Processors 
subsequently settled via mediation on September 26, 1994 that the live price 
of August 28, 1994 at 110 cents/kg would remain in effect and be effective  
October 24, 1994, the “bonus” would be increased from 0.74 cents/kg to 2.0 
cents/kg.  

The BC Processors requested the Ag Minister to amend the Chicken Scheme to 
remove the live price setting powers and to implement a final pricing arbitration 
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system.  The BCMB was named as facilitator to solve the pricing issue and after 
a series of meetings a Pricing and Production Policy was drafted providing for 
an advisory committee on pricing and production consisting of 3 processor and 
3 grower representatives.  The new process was to be implemented in early 
1995 and will make recommendations on volume and price for each CCMB 
quota period.  

The Board formed an Export Committee to draft guidelines in consultation with 
industry stakeholders during 1994.  The chicken export  program continued in 
the test stage and as to date has not been shown to be financially viable and 
revised guidelines were not completed by year end.  

The revised under/over production penalty system was approved for 
implementation effective January 1, 1995.  A monetary penalty of 44 cents/kg 
live weight was assessed every 2nd cycle beyond the 100% sleeve, and under 
production beyond the 10% sleeve will be cancelled.  Registered growers were 
now assigned a “home week” to assure an optimum weekly live chicken supply 
for the local market.  The required discipline is to ensure orderly marketing of 
the  regulated product and eliminate the “peaks” and “valleys” of production.  

1995 set new records as the BC chicken industry broke the 100 million 
kilogram (eviscerated weight) mark for chicken. The BC chicken industry 
continued to suffer pricing pressure from other provinces, but the trend eased 
somewhat as Ontario and Quebec increased chicken prices that had been 
creating lower returns in all provinces.  BC chicken prices remained lower 
than the previous year reducing farm gate returns 12% to $121.9 million from 
$138.7 million in 1994.  Escalating feed costs also resulted in a consensus 
by western provinces to increase live prices in November to improve grower 
margins.  

The BCCMB worked with the CCMA to resolve the National Export Program 
for the new year while continuing to develop and update the BC chicken 
export permit guidelines.  The CCMA and Canadian Processors are developing 
guidelines for the export program as a means for disposing of their surplus 
dark meat chicken.  A monetary penalty system was approved at CCMA, which 
requires all provinces to post a bond.  The CCMA levy was reduced from 0.4 
cents/kg to 0.27 cents/kg live weight effective  March 5, 1995.  

With the New Year came the New World Trade Agreement effective January 
1, 1995.  Canada replaced chicken import quotas with new tariff rate quotas 
(281%) but the US requested a special 150 day consultation on the new tariffs.  
The US claimed Canada cannot erect new duties without the consent of its 
NAFTA partners.  The result of the World Trade Agreement has forced growers 
to produce more volume and accept a reduced income.  The dispute is expected 
to be addressed in the new year with a decision by July 1996.  

The BCMB ordered the BCCMB to establish a Pricing and Production Advisory 
Committee (PPAC) effective on February 16, 1995 to advise the Board on issues 
related to pricing and production decisions the Board has made or will make.  
The committee consists of 6 appointed members equally representing chicken 
growers and processors.  There is also an alternate from the growers and 
processors and a member of the BCBHEC appointed as an observer of the 
proceedings.  If the committee cannot reach an agreement, there is a process 
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for mediation or arbitration.  

Also in February the BCMB ordered the BCCMB and BCBHEC to undertake 
a pricing linkage study between the price of hatching eggs and live regular 
broilers.  The BCMB also recommended to the Minister of Agriculture that the 
Board’s powers to regulated broiler chicks be cancelled, and these powers 
granted to the Hatching Egg Commission.  The Chicken Board expressed its 
concerns to the Minister. 

Growth in 1996 levelled off due to the world grain shortages and higher 
feed prices.  Growers are in survival mode, as producer returns have hit a 25 
year low, into the single digits.  Declining profit margins in the chicken industry 
over the last few years due to national oversupply and increasing feed costs is 
expected to continue into the future.  

Feed Freight Assistance from the government ended as of December 31, 1995.  
In lieu of the FFA program, a National Task Force was created to establish 
a distribution of the adjustment funding, totalling $72 million, of which BC 
received approximately 32% over 3 years, and the chicken industry received 
funds totalling over $3.5 million to date.  The Board in April of 1996 entered 
into an agreement with ARDCORP to assist in the distribution of Feed Freight 
Assistance Adjustment Funds to individual producers, based on calculations 
provided by the committee set up to distribute these funds.  In 1996 2 payments 
were made to the chicken growers of BC, with the third and final payment 
tentatively scheduled for April 1997.  

The PPAC order was finalized and circulated to industry November 18, 1996.  
The Board appointed Clarence Jensen as the independent chairman as RA 
Stafford resigned from this position on October 30, 1996.  

The Price Waterhouse Linkage agreement as ordered by the BCCMB was 
finalized between the BCCMB and BCBHEC.  It reflects the linkage between the 
price of live chicken, hatching eggs and the chick price based on the updated 
costs of production starting with period A-08 (effective August 4, 1996).  

On September 12, 1996 the Board increased the maximum and minimum farm 
size from 10,000 birds to a 15,000 bird minimum and the maximum from 
110,000 birds to 150,000 birds.  The secondary quota for registered growers 
who had not previously transferred a portion of their quota was also increased 
by 5,000 birds effective September 12, 1996.  The new secondary is tied to 
a grower’s premise, and may be transferred only in the event of a farm sale, 
however, they are without a space requirement at this time.  

New guidelines for the BC Export Guidelines were approved by the PPAC on 
October 20, 1996 and adopted by the BCCMB on November 4, 1996. The 
CCMA national export policy was unanimously approved on October 3, 1996 
for implementation March 16, 1997.  It allows for planned exports of Canadian 
chicken and allows the processing industry to compete in a grower world 
market for chicken.  The policy was developed in close cooperation with the 
CPEPC as federally inspected primary processors will play a key role in the 
new policy.  

In December 1996, the lease/grow out rules were amended.  A registered 

1995 National Allocation and Pricing Agreement

1998 National Allocation Agreement
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grower can have a lease or grow out at another registered grower’s premises 
that may not be placing and shipping with the same hatchery and processor; 
providing the competing hatchery and processor are notified in advance that 
the space is being utilized in this manner.  The production from the lease or 
grow out must go back to the hatchery and processor that the registered 
grower has been shipping to for the previous 6 cycles, and requires prior Board 
notification and approval.  

It was a great relief that the NAFTA ruling in Canada’s favour of July 1996 was 
upheld in final appeal September of 1996.  

The Board had the opportunity to meet the Minister of Agriculture, Fisheries 
and Food, The Hon. Corky Evans on February 19, 1997 to present a brief 
on the proposed new Federal Provincial Agreement in respect of the Orderly 
Marketing System for Chicken in Canada.  The Minister was asked for his 
support to the farm sector by endorsing the new agreement on behalf of the 
Province.  The Minister requested a broad consultation process, and economic 
analysis and a vision post GATT, prior to taking a proposed new FPA to the 
Provincial Cabinet for endorsement.  

1997 saw changes made to the election procedure for Board Members, 
changing from the ballot casting in person at the association meetings to write 
in ballot only. 

On May 11, 1997 the Board rolled the “old” secondary quota to primary quota, 
leaving only the new secondary quota (issued September 12, 1996).  The new 
secondary quota is still tied to a growers’ premise and may be transferred only 
in the event of a farm sale; however, it is still without a space requirement.  

Ongoing is the consultation and discussions with provincial marketing boards 
and provincial governments to finalize the new National Allocation Agreement 
(NAA) with the 10 member provinces of Chicken Farmers of Canada (CFC).  
The agreement is expected to be signed early in 1998 by all 10 provincial 
commodity Boards.  

On September 25, 1997 the Board after consultation with the PPAC, embarked 
on a new system of allocating quota in the province of BC.  On September 9, 
1997, a one time only “transitional quota” was issued on a sliding scale to all 
registered growers.  This allowed change to be made to the minimum and 
maximum farm size from 15,000 birds to 20,000 birds and from 150,000 birds 
to 200,000 birds.  With the start of utilization of the transition quota (projected 
to occur in the summer of 1999), the minimum farm size will be increased to 
25,000 birds and the maximum farm size will increase to 250,000 birds.  

The Board also amended the Over and Under Compliance Order.  There will 
now be 2 penalty periods per year, one for under production in the spring, and 
one for over production in the fall, with both periods having a 15% tolerance 
sleeve.  

On September 25, 1997 the Board after consultation with the PPAC revised the 
leasing program.  Now growers may lease up to 20% of their total quota per 
cycle for the purpose of quota maintenance.  Growers may lease one cycle of 
total quota, once per calendar year.  Leases must be produced with the same 
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region, but may be marketed out of the region.  

The PPAC now consists of a broad stake holder base of 13 members, to deal 
with all matters relating to the chicken industry.  It consists of growers, primary 
processors, bankers, retailers, hatchery and hatching egg producers, feed 
manufacturers, further processors  and resource persons from the BCMAFF.  
A newly formed “Joint Committee of the PPAC” has been formed specifically 
to negotiate price and production for a specific 8 week quota period. The 
Chair for both the PPAC and Joint Committee is Mr. Wayne Wickens.  The Joint 
Committee consists of 3 Board members plus 1 alternate and 3 processors and 
alternate.  It also contains several non-voting members from the BCBHEC, 2 
more processors and 1 more Board member. 

During 1997 and early 1998 CFC and its industry stakeholders developed a 
new National Allocation Agreement (NAA) which was signed by all 10 provinces 
on March 25, 1988 in Ottawa.  The new NAA enshrines the concept of “bottom 
up” whereby market requirements are set in consultation with processors 
and other industry stakeholders.  The NAA set a national cap of 5% with 
flexibility for regions to grow at 8% by accessing the market responsive pool, 
while containing safeguards that should trigger before any serious problems 
develop.  It makes changing the cap an industry wide decision as a triple 
majority of the CFC Board of Directors is required:  that is the majority of 
directions; majority of market-share; and the votes of at least two of the four 
non-producer directors. The new NAA also contains a provision for provinces 
to request special consideration under exceptional circumstances.  Several BC 
processors appealed the BCCMB’s right to enter into the new NAA which they 
eventually launched to the Supreme Court of BC.  The BCMB intervened and 
permitted the BCCMB to sign the NAA and the Western provinces’ MOU but 
their directive was conditional: 
(1) Confirmation by the Board that the 3 conditions approved at the Feb 16/98 

PPAC meeting 
(2) The export program remain unchanged for the first 2 years of the NAA 

except for 
(a) The first 2 years except by consent of the BCCMB and PPPABC. 
(b) After 2 years and for the duration of the NAA (including any extension) 

by mutual consent or BCCMB decision after discussion by the PPAC 
and JC.   

(3) The Board confirms that the BC Export Program is strictly and entirely 
a provincial responsibility and will be influenced only by provincial 
requirements. 

(4) BCMB will permit any or all appeals 
(5) BCMB reserves the right to direct the BCCMB to exit the NAA.  

The Joint Committee of the PPAC on January 16, 1998 agreed to a 6 period 
pricing arrangement for BC after protracted negotiations.  The BC live price was 
set for 6 periods from A-18 through A-23 inclusive based on a range from 4 to 
5 cents above Ontario’s posted price.  Growers complained at the length of the 
multi-period arrangement and its failure to address a better price especially 
during the summer months.  

In February the BCMB undertook, at the request of the Minister of Agriculture 
and Food, to begin a Regulatory Review Process to increase the effectiveness 
of existing schemes and to update and streamline them for more efficient 
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administration.  All Boards and Commissions, under the instruction of the BCMB 
prepared a strategic plan and reviewed the effectiveness of their schemes and 
made recommendations for regulatory improvements within their schemes 
and non-regulatory improvements outside the scheme.  The BCCMB met those 
objectives and filed its reports with the BCMB within the time frame prescribed.  
The consultation process with industry was less than fruitful as the processors 
thwarted any useful direct consultation through the PPAC process.  Concerned 
with the lack of consultation, the BCCMB engaged Korbin and Associates to 
inquire into the outstanding issues between the BCCMB and PPPABC and filed 
their report with the BCMB on November 26, 1998.  The BCMB is to file its 
report to the Minister on behalf of all Boards and Commissions.  

Lilydale announced in February of 1998, the pending closure of the Langford 
processing plant on Vancouver Island April 6, 1998.

On June 3, 1998 the Board and Mr. RA Stafford after 30 years of employment 
parted company.  In August of 1995 the Board entered into a revised contract 
with Mr. Stafford which guaranteed him employment until retirement at age 
65.  The contract also contained provisions that should the Board alter Mr. 
Stafford’s duties significantly from those detailed in the contract he could 
challenge the Board and exercise the payout provisions within the contract.  
Additional provisions within the contract existed which provided terms upon 
dismissal which included the number of months for severance, pension top up, 
and allowed for him to be re-employed with the related industry.  The Board 
retained personnel counselling services of KPMG Peat Marwick to assist Mr. 
Stafford with respect to any consultations he required regarding retirement 
services, relocation etc.  In the Board’s view the revised contract was very 
poorly written which led to a long and protracted legal argument which 
eventually went to court.  The judge sided with Mr. Stafford and the matter was 
eventually completed on December 9, 1999.  

On December 23, 1998 the Board employed Mr. Claude Lussier as the new 
General Manager.  Mr. Lussier commenced working with the Board in early 
February 1999.  He was born and educated in Manitoba, obtaining his Masters 
in Rural Economics from the University of Manitoba.  He has spent his entire 
working career in serving the agricultural community.  Since 1987 Claude 
had spent the majority of his time n various capacities with the Federation of 
Agricultural Producers of Quebec, which included chicken, turkey and hatching 
egg sectors.  

On December 4, 1998 the Board along with Executive Members of the Growers’ 
Association met with the Minister of Agriculture and Food, the Honourable Corky 
Evans, his deputy minister, Ms. Catherine Reid and Mr. Ross Husdon, Chair of 
the BCMB.  The purpose of the meeting was to inform the Minister, his senior 
staff and the BCMB of the current status of the export program and its effects.  

The existing PPAC and Joint Committee terms expired December 31, 1998 
as per the BCMB order – BCCMB1/97.  New members will be appointed for a 
2 year term beginning in January 1999.  The PPAC will continue to consist of 
broad stakeholder base of 13 members to deal with all matters relating to the 
chicken industry.  It consists of growers, primary processors, bankers, retailers, 
hatchery and hatching egg producers, feed manufacturers, further processors 
and a resource person from the BCMAFF.  The Joint Committee made up for 
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3 primary processors, 3 Board members plus observers continue to negotiate 
price and production for a specific 8 week quota period.  

1999 was a year of change for the BCCMB.  The various issues and 
concerns addressed by the Chicken Board in 1999 followed the direction 
of the BC Chicken Marketing Scheme in order to bring about accountability 
to the regulated product.  The offices were moved from the Dale Building in 
Cloverdale to Windermere Court in Abbotsford in August.  

In January 1999 the grower members of the PPAC won a pricing arbitration 
for quota period A-24 at the Ontario posted price plus 6 cents/kg live weight.  
In March the growers again won a pricing arbitration for quota period A-25 
based on a weighted average of Ontario, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba 
plus 4.5 cents/kg live weight.  In April all members of the Joint Committee of 
the PPAC successfully negotiated a multi period pricing agreement for quota 
periods A-16 to A-30 inclusive (ending February 2000).  

In March 1999 CFC in conjunction with the BCCMB held workshops for all 
chicken growers in the province with respect to the On-Farm Food Safety 
Assurance Program (OFFSAP).  This HACCP based program was to become 
mandatory in 2000.  

In March 1999 Mr. Jim Beattie was hired as Production Manager and Policy 
Analyst.  In October Mr. Greg Campbell was hired as Poultry Inspector 
(Compliance Officer), first in BC history.  

Special meetings were held in September to explain the past and present 
method of allotting domestic quota to growers.  Export production and its 
dynamics were also explained.  A meeting was convened by BCMB on the 
merits of exiting or remaining in the National Allocation Agreement (NAA).  After 
consultation with growers, the Board worked out a temporary arrangement 
respecting the Vancouver Island situation regarding ferry freight assistance.  

The Board’s election procedures were removed from the Chicken Scheme on 
January 18, 2000.  All elected Board member positions were terminated.  
The BCCMB was transformed from a 5 member elected Board to an appointed 
3 member Board by Order in Council on January 18, 2000.  Appointed were 
retired Supreme Court Justice Kenneth R. Halvorson (Chair), Ms. Wendy Jeske 
(Vice Chair), and Mr. Stephen Mostardi.  The appointed Board was charged with 
resolving several key issues concerning the Chicken Industry:
•	 Ensuring the PPAC is effective
•	 Develop short and long term plans to address the future of chicken 

production on Vancouver Island.  
•	 Establish an export program which meets BC’s requirements
•	 Revise the domestic allocation system
•	 Amend or transform the NAA
•	 Implement production standards
•	 Develop a program to address organic and other niche market 

development.  

As a result of the BC Supreme Court decision rendered April 4, 2000 the 
BCCMB was no longer a participant in the NAA or the LDA with CFC.  Further 
the BCMB in a March 17, 2000 Supervisory decision directed the Chicken 
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Board to prepare a revised export policy.  

On April 10, 2000 the Chicken Board gave notice to all industry that a 
consultation process was to commence in order to complete a comprehensive 
revision of domestic supply managed policy concurrent with the development 
of BC Export Policy.  The Chicken Board sought the advice of all sectors of the 
chicken industry regarding the terms and conditions for both domestic and 
export policies.  The policies were to permit BC to maintain a supply managed 
system whether a signatory to a new Federal Provincial Agreement or not.  

On August 15, 2000 the Chicken Board passed and began the implementation 
of the new Regulations for a “stand alone” domestic and export chicken policy 
for the province of BC.  The Regulations were subsequently appealed by the 
PPPABC and other parties on August 25, 2000 and a request was made for a 
stay of implementation of the Regulations.  On October 2, 2000 the BCMB ruled 
that a stay was not warranted.  The appeal continued into 2001.  

The Board actively participated at CFC, relaying its mandate and short and long 
term objectives to all provinces.  At the CFC table progress was made in the 
drafting of an agreement which defined the parameters of the relationship of 
BC to the CFC in the period that BC was not part of any national agreement.  
The Board also reviewed and commented on the drafts of the FPA.  The final 
draft of this document has been completed. 

On June 1, 2000 by Order-in-council #761 the Lieutenant Governor of BC 
ordered the BCCMB to “not permit a disposition or transfer of quota issues 
to a person to produce regulated product on Vancouver Island or any area 
of the Province other than Vancouver Island unless the Board sets aside 
quota exclusively for purposes of the production of the regulated product on 
Vancouver Island in an amount the board permits disposed of or transferred 
off Vancouver Island.”  The Board has created a Vancouver Island pool which 
at December 31, 2000 totalled 1,046,864 kg live weight (823,192 kg primary, 
77,152 kg secondary and 146,142 kg transitional quota).  

Effective August 31, 2000 the Board’s General Manager Mr. Claude Lussier 
resigned.  Mr. Lussier was retained on contract as a consultant until February 
2001 and was replaced by Mr. Jim Beattie, formerly the Production Manager 
on September 1, 2000.  

The make up of the Board was modified by the Minister of Agriculture on 
October 5, 2000 by appointing two additional members to the Chicken Board.   
In the same order Ms. Jeske replaced Justice Halvorson as Chair, with the 
remaining members being appointed for a further term.  

The 1997 PPAC order of the BCMB was transferred to the BCCMB and was 
made an Order in a Schedule of the Board’s General Orders.  It can now be 
amended by the BCCMB.

The year 2001 was a year of consolidation and evolution in the BC Chicken 
industry.  It was the 2nd year of a government appointed Board comprised of 
3 independent members and one representative each from the grower and 
processor sectors.  

Advertising Campaign
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2001 commenced with the use of the BC Form 100 and 101 by growers every 
cycle in order to obtain an allotment for that period.  Export allocation was done 
by the Board since A-39.  Under the new regulations, processors receive 100% 
of their export allocation, while all growers who qualify have the opportunity 
to participate in the export program.  Period by period compliance became 
mandatory for growers.  Growers are obligated to produce their allotment in 
kilograms each and every period in order to meet the product requirements of 
BC processors.  The growers have worked diligently to adjust to the disciplined 
production regime flowing from the regulations and have gained confidence 
and success with each passing period.  

Penalty regulations were instituted to deter significant over and under 
production in order to ensure that the provincial production meets processor 
requirements, satisfies the provincial allocation from CFC and fulfills the 
obligations of BC as a signatory to the new FPA to supply the Canadian Market.  
Previously unregulated product is now included with the supply management 
system.  

Nationally BC signed both a Service Agreement and Letter of Agreement with 
CFC for payment of service fee arrears and unpaid expenses with the CFC.  
This completion strengthened national supply management and supported the 
effort towards the goal of establishing the new FPA which was signed by the 
Honourable John Van Dongen, Minister of Agriculture, bringing BC back into 
the national system on July 1, 2001.  With this signing, BC once again was 
a full member of CFC with all the rewards and responsibilities that go with 
membership.  

The appeal by the PPPABC of the August 15, 2000 Regulations was withdrawn 
on February 26, 2001 subject to conditions.  A new appeal was launched by 
Pollon and Sunrise which was to be heard in the New Year.  

In 2001 a surplus was declared and $500,000 rebated to growers of record, 
based on actual production during periods A-36 to A-42.  The levy was dropped 
from 1.50 cents to 1.25 cents/kg live weight effective December 16, 2001 for 
both domestic and export product.  The export levy remained shared 50/50 
between the grower and the processor.  

In 2002 the Board exercised its discretion and imposed graduated over and 
under marketing penalties be enforced from A-39 to A-43.  In A-44 
any over or under marketing penalties were to the full extent of the 
Regulations.  

The Board rolled secondary quota into primary quota effective with 
quota period A-50. 

Nationally the Board concluded negotiations with CFC for the inclusion 
of approximately 930,000 kg live weight of permit production into 
BC’s base effective with period A-49, the production consisted of 
permit and unregulated production that the Board determined should 
be covered under quota but was not.  

The Board commenced a review of the August 14, 2000 Regulations, 
accepting written submissions and holding public meetings.  
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The Board was successful at the Supreme Court of BC with a ruling of Justice 
Lynn Smith identifying that there is nothing in the scheme or legislation to 
exclude organically grown chicken from being regulated by the Chicken Board.  
Certified organic chicken is chicken and is under the jurisdiction of the BCCMB.  
The ruling is being appealed at the Court of Appeal in the New Year.  

The Board was successful at the Supreme Court of BC with a ruling of Justice 
Tysoe identifying that the Board has the power under the Scheme to direct 
product to processors.  The ruling is being appealed at the Court of Appeal in 
the New Year.  

On March 12, 2003 the Order-in-council appointments of the Board members 
expired.  To ensure continuity in the management of the regulated chicken 
industry BCFIRB exercised its authority appointing Mr. Wayne Wickens as Chair 
and sole voting member of the Chicken Board, until the Lieutenant Governor 
in Council appointments were made.  On April 10, 2003 by Order-in-Council of 
the Lieutenant Governor in Council, 5 members were appointed to the Board.  

The Board members: Michel Maurer, Geoff Thorpe, Keith Fuller, Allan Fauchon 
and Bill Vanderspek signed Memorandums of Understanding with FIRB and the 
Minister of Agriculture regarding their respective roles and responsibilities in 
carrying out the purposes of the Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act.  

The Board continued the process of the Regulation Review undertaken by 
the previous board.  Further submissions from industry were requested and 
meetings convened to discuss proposed changes to the Regulations.  

FIRB initiated a review of the specialty sector, focusing on organic production 
in all commodities.  FIRB requested each commodity to report by the end of the 
year on its program to support niche markets.  

A decision was rendered on an appeal involving Over Marketing levies.  FIRB 
ruled in favour of the Chicken Board, that the Board is correct in concluding 
that such penalties are the cost of the overall privilege of doing business 
as a quota holder.  The supply-managed system, including the FPA confers 
enormous benefits on a grower by way of quota and by way of stability of price 
and production.  As quid pro quo, growers rightly accept the cost of production 
over their allotment tolerances.  The panel did not accept a “due diligence” 
defence to over production by a grower.  

On December 12, 2003 the BCCMB was granted the authority to sign the Western 
Allocation Settlement Agreement (WASA).  The WASA is the methodology by 
which the Western Provinces agree to resolve the issue of setting chicken 
production volumes in the Western Region, and is required by the Operating 
Agreement, Schedule B of the Federal Provincial Agreement for Chicken.  

On January 13, 2004 (start for A-50) secondary quota was rolled into primary 
quota.  The Board amended the Regulations respecting barn density to conform 
to the Recommended Code Practice, which is 2.88 kilograms per square foot, 
making BC consistent with national policy.  

The Board ordered the OFFSAP be made mandatory for all chicken growers in 
the province of BC effective December 31, 2003.  All growers must be validated 
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by December 31, 2004.  

Avian Influenza struck the BC Chicken Industry on a broiler breeder farm in 
February 2004.  On March 10, 2004 CFIA reported the presence of highly 
pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) due to H7N3 virus subtype in the Fraser 
Valley area of southern BC on the same farm where a non-pathogenic AI had 
been reported.  Immediately thereafter a Control Area was implemented for 
the Fraser Valley that restricted the movement of any captive birds, including 
day-old chicks and hatching eggs, any products or by-products and anything 
(i.e. equipment) that has been exposed to poultry.  At the same time CFIA 
imposed three disease control zones within the control area, with different risk 
levels within each of these zones, the movement restrictions being adjusted 
accordingly.  

A stamping out policy was adopted and in April it was decided to depopulate 
the entire control zone of poultry (approximately 16 million non-infected 
commercial poultry birds).  A total of 42 commercial farms and 11 backyard 
flocks were diagnosed as infected for a total of 1,204,564 birds.  Uninfected 
birds were able to normally enter the Canadian food chain.  

By the end of May no more flocks had been found positive.  The response effort 
entered the recovery phase, shifting from depopulation to decontamination, 
cleaning and disinfecting which was completed by June.  Active surveillance 
continued. Twenty one days after the last infected premises had been cleaned 
and disinfected farms were able to restock their premises.  Effective July 9, 
2004 the identified zone was declared no longer infected.  

Affected growers received compensation for quota periods A-58 and A-60 
(there was no production in the Fraser Valley in A-59).  The Board compensated 
affected farms in the amount of 28 cents/kg in A-58 and 22.8 cents/kg in A-60.  
The Federal government made CAIS (Canadian Agricultural Income Stabilization 
Program available to all affected growers and extended the deadline to apply.  

To cover the shortfall in Canadian production in the affected periods when BC 
was out of production, chicken farmers from across Canada under the CFC 
banner participate in a lease program called “Chickens West”.  This provided 
fresh eviscerated product to BC Processing plants while collecting a lease fee 
to be given to the BCCMB. $900,000.00 was collected which the Board used 
to offset costs associated with AI, including support payments to BC chicken 
growers.  

Further product was made available to BC Processing establishments under 
a Fast Track Supplemental Program from Department of Foreign Affairs and 
International Trade (DFAIT).  

The Board implemented Assurance of Supply to Processors in 2004, and a 
New Entrant Program, both of which were appealed.   A decision is expected 
in 2005 from FIRB.  

On March 4, 2004 Mr. Jim Beattie left his position as General Manager.  Mr. 
Bill Vanderspek (a Board member) was made acting GM on March 10, 2004, 
retaining both positions.  
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In March the government by order-in-council again changed the Board 
membership makeup contained in the BC Chicken Scheme.  The changes 
provided for an appointed Chair, 2 appointed members and allowed for 
election of 2 grower members from the registry of registered growers.   Due 
to AI the election for 2 registered growers to sit on the Board was postponed 
until October 13, 2004 when the Board returned to a 5 member board.  Dave 
Martens, and Ted DeVries were elected for a 3 and 2 year term respectively.  

The Serecon linkage update between the BCCMB and BCBHEC was finalized 
in January 2005 and implemented in quota period A-63 (January 9, 2005).  
FIRB ruled in favour of the BCCMB respecting Assurance of Supply and New 
Entrant Program for Processors appeal.  Mr. Bill Vanderspek accepted the 
position of GM effective March 10, 2005, and at that time resigned his position 
as Board member.  

The Board after consultation from the Growth Committee and receipt of 3 
minority reports concluded that none of the positions adequately addressed 
the intention of Order #320 (transitional quota rollover), that being achieving 
pro-rata growth for all growers.  The decision of the Board was to implement 
changes as to allow all quota holders to share equally and fairly, future growth 
in the industry, from period A-69 onwards.  As such the Board ordered effective 
June 29, 2005 the issuance of 9,644 kg primary to the “faint hope quota 
holders” and rolled all existing transitional quota into primary quota.  Growers 
in business at the time with neither transitional or faint hope quota were issued 
transitional quota equivalent to their primary quota holdings to a maximum 
of 9,644 kgs which was subsequently converted to primary quota.  Effective 
A-69 all future allocations were done on a primary quota pro-rata basis.  The 
decision of the Board was appealed with a decision forthcoming in the new 
year.  

On September 22, 2005 FIRB approved the Rules and Procedures for Election 
of Board members to the BCCMB.  Under the new rules, all growers were 
required to complete a Voting Grower Registration Form to be eligible to vote.  

Avian Influenza again struck the BC Poultry Industry on a duck farm on 
November 19, 2005.  CFIA reported the presence of non-pathogenic avian 
influenza (NPAI) due to H5N1 virus subtype in the Fraser Valley area of southern 
BC.  The industry acted quickly, implementing the lessons learned from 2004 
and a control zone was implemented.  No further infected flocks were found 
beyond the two duck farms and at the end of the 21 day quarantine, the 
restricted zone was lifted by CFIA.  

PPAC arrived at a multi period pricing agreement to span A-66 to A-71 inclusive.  
Upon receipt of advice from PPAC the Board amended the pricing sizing grid by 
expanding the number of categories for payment for live chicken.  The change 
was effective at the start of quota period A-66.  

On January 23, 2006 FIRB approved the BCCMB General Orders including 
changes to the permit program and specialty regulations.  Permits issued 
under the former Part 50 New Entrant Program for Growers were cancelled 
and eligible for conversion to quota based on the growers past production 
and existing business plan.  A new permit program was created for small lot 
growers for a maximum of 3000 kg live weight/annum.  The permit is non-
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transferable and may not be combined with any class of quota.  

All Quotas issued to growers after September 1, 2005 will be subject to a 
declining quota transfer assessment schedule.  A new committee was created,  
the SMAC or Specialty Markets Advisory Committee, to provide advice to the 
Board on pricing and production matters relating to the specialty industry.  

FIRB upheld the Board’s decision on industry growth, and the issuance of 
9,644 kg live weight of primary quota to “faint hope” growers, all “primary 
quota only” quota grower and conversion of transitional quota to primary quota 
effective A-69.  As of A-69 all future allocations will be done on a primary quota 
pro-rata basis.  Growers receiving the additional quota have until February 6, 
2006 to provide space or forfeit the quota.  

The Board held its annual planning session.  Arising from this meeting the 
Board decided to amend the contingency fund regulations to contain two million 
dollars; and the Board decided Over Marketing levies will be not returned to 

individual growers who paid them, but will go into 
general revenue and be dispersed to all growers in 
the event of a surplus at year end.  

In 2007 Board members and staff were able to 
attend most BCCGA meetings in all three regions of 
the province during the year to provide updates on 
Board activities and programs and to be available 
to answer questions from the grower community.  
Board Inspection staff attended all three regional 
growers meetings during the month of November 
to provide growers with Power Point presentations 
and updates on bio-security, OFFSAP, and the 
Premise ID and mapping projects.  

During 2007 random draws for the New Entrant 
Program were held in all three regions of the 
province.  During 2007 11 new entrant growers 
began operation: 7 in the Lower Mainland 
(specialty and organic growers), 2 on Vancouver 
Island (mainstream growers) and 2 in the Interior 
region of the province (mainstream growers)

The PPAC successfully negotiated a seven-
period pricing agreement on October 2, 2007.  
The agreement followed up 2 periods of pricing 
arbitration: the first judged in favour of the 
processors, the second in favour of the growers.  
The agreement contained a clause allowing either 
side to terminate the agreement after 3 periods if 
no headway is made in the outstanding issues of:  
catching cost differential categories, COP pricing 
linkage, feed formulations, and domestic live 
pricing/sizing categories.  

A number of programs were implemented by the 
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Board to address bio-security concerns.  All supply managed poultry farms 
have been identified, mapped and given a unique premise ID number.  A joint 
emergency response committee has been established to be deployed on short 
notice in the event of a disease outbreak or disaster.  The four feather boards 
accepted on the recommendation of BC Poultry Association (BCPA), and made 
mandatory the BC Bio-security Program in 2007.  

A surplus distribution was declared for 2007, over $1.03 million dollars was 
returned to the growers in the following year.  

The BC Chicken Growers’ Association celebrated its 50th anniversary (1957 
– 2007).  

The PPAC dealt with increasingly contentious pricing negotiations in 2008.  
The termination clause was activated by the growers in the multi-period pricing 
agreement.  Several arbitrations followed resulting in the Board implementing 
a cooling off period and suspension of arbitration commencing with A-86 and 
A-87.  Meanwhile the firm of Ference Weicker & Co. was engaged to prepare 
a report designed to present possible options to develop a new pricing model 
for live chicken in BC.  Appeals were launched for every pricing period that 
the Board set after the suspension of the arbitration process up to A-100 
inclusive.  The draft Ference Weicker report was available November 25, 2008 
and stakeholder consultation was to commence in the new year.  

A new auditor was appointed for the Board.  The firm of Meyers Norris and 
Penny replaced BDO Dunwoody after 18 years of service.  

The BCCMB election rules were amended in 2008 (in time for the 2009 election 
season).  Term limits were eliminated and the required number of growers 
signing the nomination form was lowered from 15 to 5.  A new “Voting List” 
will be compiled each year as part of the annual licence application renewal.  

In 2007, the CFC On Farm Safety Assurance Program (OFFSAP) certification 
was achieved for all specialty growers.  Yearly re-certification will follow 
OFFSAP certification timelines.  Work continued on developing a live price for 
specialty chicken. Specialty growers have been cutback to 90% of their yearly 
allotment due to oversupply of the specialty market. 

The Board continued in 2009 to depart from the arbitration process 
described in the General Orders, citing the move to be in the best interests of 
the BC chicken industry.  The premise was based on the goal of arriving at a 
new pricing model for live chicken in BC using the Ference Weicker Report as 
a base for industry discussion.  Each price set by the Board was appealed with 
FIRB.  The appeals were adjourned until the outcome of the BCFIRB Supervisory 
Review hearing.  The hearing was scheduled as a result of requests made by 
processors as they were not happy with the direction of the pricing model and 
draft Ference Weicker report.  

The Ference Weicker Report entitled “Report to the BC Farm Industry Review 
Board from the BCCMB – Model for Live Price for BC Grower Chicken and 
Related Recommendations” was sent to FIRB for approval on September 
3, 2009.  The recommendations were: (1) model to set the live price for BC 
Chicken (2) elimination of Assurance of Supply for all processors above 2% 

BC Chicken Farmers are proud suppliers 
of chicken products for Expo 86 and the 
Vancouver 2010 Olympics
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of BC’s allocation (3) modification of the MD program arising from technical 
issues due to the elimination of assurance of supply for processors and (4) 
removal of current FOB definition and to create new definition respecting 
change of ownership for the regulated product to occur the moment when 
any agent of the processor takes physical possession of the regulated product.  

The Supervisory hearing was scheduled for December 14-18, 2009 and 
continued January 11-14 2010 with final submissions occurring on January 
21, 2010.  The decision was to be forthcoming in the first quarter of 2010 at 
which time the Board would amend its General Orders accordingly.  

BC requested additional allocation to account for the increased visitors to BC 
during the 2010 Olympic period.  A consultant with Meyers Norris and Penny 
was engaged by the Board to assess the increased demand and to prepare a 
document for presentation to CFC.  BC’s request was approved for an additional 
563,023 kg live weight which was produced over 2 periods A-95 and A-96.  

The SMAC developed live prices for specialty chicken effective for quota period 
A-95.  The SMAC agreed to a full update of the Specialty COP mid A-96 working 
towards establishing a new price for A-97.  Work continued on contracts for all 
specialty growers.  The first contracts were for implementation in A-95 and the 
specialty sector moved closer to conforming with all BCCMB General Orders.  

BC again experienced an outbreak of Avian Influenza in January 2009.  Only 
two premises tested positive (a turkey farm and a silky chicken breeder farm).  
The number of quarantined premises reached 43 (18 broiler) in total.  CFIA 
removed the restrictions on all farms after completing a 21 day surveillance 
and testing period that followed CFIA approval of primary compositing on the 

second infected premise.   

Other disease problems plagued BC 
in 2009.  May of 2009 began with an 
outbreak of ILT in the Fraser Valley.  As 
of October 2009 there had been 56 
diagnosed cases of ILT (of that number 
39 were broiler flocks).  In May 2009 
the Board initiated the process of 
facilitation and active participation in 
a number of initiatives that had been 
designed and were intended to impede 
and eventually arrest the spread of 
the ILT virus in the Fraser Valley.  In 
November 2009 in consultation with 
poultry veterinarians, it had been 
determined that the outbreak had been 
brought under control.  

The Board brought its new website 
on line in June of 2009.  The site has 
been made more user-friendly and is 
directed to the general public.  

Updated strategic plans for all Boards 
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and Commissions were requested by FIRB dating back to early in 2008, and 
the Board initiated its process in the autumn of 2008.  The document was 
refined and completed in the late summer/early fall of 2009.  The Board 
delayed the release of the document until after the completion of the BCFIRB 
Supervisory hearing due to the sensitivity of the hearing process and the 
Board’s unwillingness to appear to attempt to influence the process in any way.  
The release of the draft occurred in February 2010 and the final copy released 
in March 2010.  The plan served to document the Board’s vision and guide its 
management of the BC Chicken Industry.  

In 2010 the Board signed a contract with Serecon Consulting to perform 
a full update on the broiler COP model that is used to calculate the linkage 
between the live price of BC grown chicken and the hatching egg price each 
period.  It is the expectation of the Board to implement the results of the update 
in early 2011.  

June 2010 brought about the long awaited Supervisory Decision of BCFIRB.  
A new pricing model was to be implemented using a weighted average of 
Ontario and Prairie Production plus a fixed differential and is effective in A-101.  
Assurance of Supply (AoS) was repealed for processors processing above 
2% of the domestic allocation effective in A-103.  AoS was preserved for all 
processors processing below 2% of the domestic allocation, and the Board 
could direct product to such processors to maintain sufficient processing levels.  
The Market Development program has been amended to reflect the changes 
with the repealing of AoS.  The new MD program will now be processor specific 
effective A-103.  Processors will set the price and collect the lease fees from 
participating growers.  Processors will be able to use the MD program in a 
manner that best suits their business models to optimize their financial returns 
within the current regulatory framework.  The issue of catching costs were 
referred back to the PPAC for consideration.  A deadline of December 31, 2010 
was set by FIRB for the PPAC to deliver its advice to the BCCMB for the approval 
of the Chicken Board.  

The Pricing appeals arising prior to the Supervisory Review Decision were 
settled via mediation between the BCCGA and the PPPABC.  The PPAC 
negotiated a higher fixed differential for period A-101 to A-119.  The differential 
will return to the level set by the FIRB Supervisory Decision in A-120 if the 
PPAC does not successfully negotiate an agreement.  The average price for 
mainstream chicken in 2010 was $1.4547 per kilogram live weight.  

With the completion of the COP for Specialty Chicken, the Specialty Markets 
Advisory Committee (SMAC) has completed the standardization of TC pricing 
categories and organic prices.  

The Board on June 16, 2010 offered an incentive quota (in an amount of 3,473 
kg live weight per 8-week cycle) to 17 existing New Entrant Growers in the 
Interior and Vancouver Island regions of the Province.  The Board exercised 
its discretion within its mandate to ensure continued and consistent supply 
of the regulated product to regional processors.  The incentive quota was tied 
to the region and the small regional processing plant in perpetuity.  It may be 
transferred within the region, but it remains tied to the region as long as there 
is a processing plant in operation in that region.  Further, growers receiving 
this additional incentive quota under this proposal were required to contract 
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and ship all of his/her production from new and existing issuances of incentive 
quota to a specific plant (as directed or chosen by the Board) in his/her region 
as long as a processing plant remains in operation in the region.  Growers 
cannot change processors unless by mutual agreement between grower, 
current processor and new processor or by exceptional circumstances as 
permitted by the Board. 

A grower appealed the transfer restrictions imposed on the new entrant 
growers accepting the additional incentive quota. The Board’s order was 
upheld by FIRB, with the panel finding that the Board had the legal authority 
to amend the program and the decision was consistent with sound marketing 
policy.  The panel found that the Board’s quota incentive offer was an exercise 
in its discretion to create a regulatory means of supporting sound marketing 
policy for the good of the entire industry.  The panel found that the quota 
was offered as part of the NEG program in order to address specific regional 
requirements, making it different from an industry-wide allocation of quota 
which is commonly distributed to all growers on a pro-rata basis.  

In 2010, the Board approved Schedule 21 of the General Orders, which outlined 
the consequences for failure to achieve certification under the BC Bio-security 
Program.  The consequences were drafted in concert with other feather boards 
and vetted by BCFIRB prior to implementation.  

The Animal Care Program was developed by Chicken Farmers of Canada to 
complement the Safe, Safer, Safest Program (OFFSAP) and to demonstrate the 
high level of care given to Canadian chickens by Canadian chicken farmers.  
Although the program was not mandatory in 2010, a number of farms took the 
opportunity to become certified under the program during their annual 2010 
audit.  As of December 31, 2010, there were 152 of 331 farms (45.9%) fully 
certified under the CFC Animal Care Program.  

And finally in 2011 BC’s annual volume was approximately 150 million 
kilograms, growth of one thousand percent (1000%) since 1967.  

The Board reached its milestone 50th year in existence, having been the 
first supply managed feather board created in Canada.  As you can see from 
this document, for many issues the more things change, the more they stay 
the same.  It is a testament to the leadership and dedication of growers and 
processors over the past 50 years that has allowed our industry to flourish and 
prosper and become what it has.  This has allowed the BC Chicken Marketing 
Board in many ways to be a pioneer and leader in this country.  
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